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John MCMAHAN.
 
Idros Roberts contends 

… that our McMahans, as well as most of the Scotch Irish settlers of the Yadkin area [in North Carolina], were originally from Ayrshire, Scotland.  Settled in County Down, Ulster, during the early sixteen hundreds, on lands granted to Hamilton in 1605.
  

The following McMahans (spelled variously) are included on the 1681 rent roll of the Hamilton “plantation” in County Down, Ireland:
  

· Alice M’Mehan in Ballynegee with 60 acres, “etc.” and 4 pounds and 14 shillings annual rent
· Patrick M’Mechan in Bangor Town with 16 shillings annual rent

· James M’Mechan in Bangor Town with 10 shillings 9 pence annual rent

· James M’Mechan in Bangor Town with 6 shillings 9 pence annual rent [immediately follows previous person on this McMahan list]
· Jno M’Mechan, shoemaker, in Bangor Town with 13 shillings 6 pence annual rent
· Widow M’Mechan in Bangor Town with 6 shillings 9 pence annual rent

· William M’Mechan in Bangor Town with 3 pounds 18 shillings 6 pence annual rent

· John M’Mechan in Bangor Town with 2 pounds 4 shillings 10 pence annual rent

· John M’Mechan in Bangor Town with 4 shillings 6 pence annual rent [immediately follows previous person on this McMahan list]
From Hamilton’s “plantation” in Northern Ireland, the McMahans and others moved to the New World, according to Idros Roberts.  Idros contends that

[t]hese county Down folk went to Delaware or Maryland, thence up into Chester Co., Pa., then the western part of Chester cut off to form Lancaster, and later Cumberland. 
  

From Pennsylvania, Idros Roberts contends, they moved to Rowan County, North Carolina.  As evidence to back up her contentions, Idros notes that 

[t]here are about 500 families on the [1681 and 1688 Hamilton plantation] Rent Rolls, but many have 3-6 of one name; about 250 different names, and 55 of these are named as in Rowan!  Nearly all of those in Rowan came from Lancaster County Pa., where the Scotch Irish largely were settled. 
  

The Irish rent rolls shared 55 surnames with Rowan County, according to Idros Roberts.  She further notes that these were not just common surnames. 
  

Mary Reed Frost Rollins Defrees of Indianapolis, Indiana, is reported to have written the following in a letter dated 30 Nov. 1880 (emphasis added):

Of my side of the house I can not give any acount farther back then my great grandparents, my great-grandfather William Frost was of English decent or perhaps Welch my grandfather Ebenezer Frost was born and brought up in new Jursey whence he removed to North Carolina where he married Elizabeth Willson who was of Irish anacstry by whome he had 12 children William Frost my father married Elizabeth Read by her he raised six children their names were, Susanna, Mary, Sarah, Ebenezer, Elizabeth, Caroline. My grandparents on my mother's side were named as follows James Read whoes father came from the County Down Ireland and located on monacaca creek Marieland waire he married Margaret DeHoofe of French decent.  My grandfather James Read married Mary M. Mac mahan she was the daugher of James McMahan who also came from the county Down Ireland his wife's name was Susan Hilderbrand of German decent.  So my children are of four nations of the old world combined my father William Frost moved from North Carolina Rohan County to Ohio 185 built a camp in the woods near Piqua the 20th of November built a cabin and went into it Christmas. We were two and a half miles from white nighbors but Indians were plenty so were wild animals. I with my husband and family moved to Goshen, Indiana in 1835. I am now 83 years old. Mary Defrees

This would appear to validate Idros Roberts’s contentions concerning the origin of the McMahan family in County Down, Ulster, Ireland.

Robert W. Ramsey in his book, Carolina Cradle, notes that, before 1730, there was a large influx of Scotch-Irish from Ireland, principally into Cecil County, Maryland, New Castle County, Delaware, and Chester County, Pennsylvania.  This migration was caused by economic hardship in Ireland.  Once in America, they first pushed further west, primarily in Pennsylvania. 
  

Later, the Scotch-Irish moved south from Pennsylvania.  This had a number of causes, including political pressure on them by the dominant Quaker minority. 
  Arguably the single most important cause, however, was the increasing price of land in Pennsylvania.  Much cheaper land could be had in the South, particularly in the Carolinas. 

Robert Ramsey in Carolina Cradle asserts that “Andrew, James, and John McMachan” first appeared in the written record in New Castle County, Delaware.
  Ramsey seems to believe that the John mentioned was the John McMahan of Rowan County who was Eunice’s ancestor.  This needs further investigation.  
Robert Ramsey notes that Andrew and James McMachan “…obtained land warrants in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, between 1744 and 1750” before moving on to the Yadkin region in North Carolina.
  He missed the fact that John appears to have been in Lancaster County, as well.  John McMechon obtained a warrant for 300 acres in Lancaster County on 29 May 1746.
  Whether this is truly Eunice’s ancestor John needs further investigation.
John McMahan died in Rowan County, North Carolina, sometime after 31 July 1776.  According to his Rowan County last will and testament, dated 31 July 1776, he owned 200 acres of land on Toms Creek.  The location of the creek was unspecified, but the identified Executors were in Pennsylvania, so at first guess, it was theorized that the creek must be there, as well.  According to his Frederick County, Maryland, last will and testament, dated 18 April 1774, John owned 100 acres in Frederick County and about 150 acres in Montjoy [Mount Joy] Township, York County, Pennsylvania.  Toms Creek was in both Frederick and York Counties in the 1774-1776 timeframe (the creation of a new county from York has resulted in Toms Creek being in Adams County today, but it still flows through Frederick County).  

Having a last will and testament filed in two places is not extraordinary.  As noted by Marsha Hoffman Rising,

If your ancestor owned property in a different state or county from the one in which he died, the land cannot be sold until a copy of the will or administration is recorded in the county where the land was held.
 

On the chance that John owned land in York County, Pennsylvania, the index of Wills for that was checked, and no last will and testament for John McMahan was found.
  In 1794, however, the county Sheriff sold land owned by the estate of John McMahan, so,he did die owning land in that county.
A search of the Internet determined that David Kennedy and Samuel Emmit, both mentioned in the Rowan County last will and testament, were residents of -- or at least were active in -- York County, Pennsylvania.  Based on grantor indices for York County deeds, David died sometime between 1796 and 1799 in that county.
  During the Revolutionary War, David Kennedy served the Patriot cause as the Colonel of a York County unit.
  Samuel Emmit was mentioned in the Frederick County last will and testament, as well as the Rowan County last will and testament.  Samuel Emmit was instrumental in the founding of the Frederick County town of Emmitsburg by his son, William Emmit (Samuel gave him the land). 

From his two last wills and testaments, it is known that John McMahan was living in “Montjoy” [Mount Joy] Township in York County, Pennsylvania, in April 1774 and in Rowan County, North Carolina, in July 1776.  The Frederick County last will and testament shows that the grandsons James and William McMahan mentioned in the Rowan County last will and testament were both children of John’s son James. 

Based on the property information in the two last wills and testaments, it appears likely that John owned Frederick County land in the Toms Creek valley on the Diggs Lot Resurvey.  Both John Patterson and Michael Smith were original purchasers of land in this area from William Diggs.
  These are two abutters mentioned in the Frederick County last will and testament.  John did not purchase his land directly from William Diggs.
On the other hand, in 1763, a John McMahon purchased 200 acres from Abraham Emmit in the Carrolsburg area of the Flat Run Creek valley in Frederick County, Maryland.
  Given that (1) most of the Carrolsburg sales were made by Samuel Emmit (who bought the land from Carrol’s estate), (2) Samuel was mentioned in both of John’s Wills, and (3) the land was on Toms Creek, it seems likely that Eunice’s ancestor made the 1763 purchase.

In 1765, a John McMachon purchased 946 acres from Gurand [Gerard] Brisco in the Brooks Reserve area of the Beaver Dam and Owens Creek valley in Frederick County. 
  It is not known if this man is Eunice’s ancestor John.  
Neither his Rowan County last will and testament nor his Frederick County last will and testament mentions his wife.  She must have died before April 1774.

1694 or earlier.  John was born (assumes that son James was his first child and that John was at least 20 years old when James was born).
1714.  Son James was born.
About 1716.  Son Samuel was born.

About 1718.  Daughter Katherine was born.  Katherine married a Larrimore.  It is very likely that the John Lammer mentioned in John’s Frederick County, Maryland, last will and testament was Katherine’s son.  Thomas Larimar, the individual entrusted with John’s Frederick County last will and testament, is likely Katherine’s spouse.  According to the Sons of the American Revolution (SAR), Thomas Larimer (1749-1816) of Mount Joy Township was a Patriot veteran of the Revolution and his wife was named Catherine.  Catherine’s maiden name is not given in any SAR application.
  In 1783, Thomas Laramor was living in Mount Joy Township of York County, Pennsylvania.  He had 200 acres of land and there were 4 males, 5 females, and no servants or slaves in his household. 

About 1720.  Daughter Mary was born.  Mary married a Morrison. More research is needed.
About 1722.  Possible but unlikely son Andrew was born.  Andrew McMakin (Sr.) of the parish of St. Luke, Rowan County, died in 1768 (his last will and testament was dated 5 April 1768).  His wife’s name is unknown, but the names of his children mentioned in his last will and testament were James, John, Andrew, Margaret, Jane, Elizabeth, and Ann.  Each of the daughters was to receive “six pounds pensylvania money” when she became 18.  Son Andrew (Jr.) was to get “20 pounds like money” at 21.  The wife of Andrew (Sr.) and sons James and John divided the remainder of his estate (the division among these three was not equal, however).
  From the last will and testament, it appears that Andrew (Sr.) had moved to North Carolina from Pennsylvania.  It also appears that all of his daughters were under 18 and his son Andrew (Jr.) was under 21.  This would be consistent with Andrew (Sr.) being John’s son.  Only circumstantial evidence links John to Andrew (Sr.), however.  Even if Andrew (Sr.) and John are related, they might not be father and son.  The fact that none of his children were mentioned in either of John’s wills makes it questionable that Andrew (Sr.) was one of John’s children.  
About 1724.  Daughter Jane was born.  Jane married a Pursley.  The John Pursely mentioned in John’s Frederick County, Maryland, last will and testament must be Jane’s son.  James Pursley, who was taxed in Mount Joy Township, York County, Pennsylvania, in 1762, is possibly Jane’s spouse. 
  More research is needed.
About 1726.  Daughter Agnes was born.  Agnes married an Anderson.  The John Anderson mentioned in John’s Frederick County, Maryland, last will and testament must be Agnes’s son.  Michael Anderson, who lived in that portion of York County, Pennsylvania, that became Adams County, is possibly Agnes’s spouse.
 Dean McMakin, however, says that her spouse was William Anderson. 
  He might be the person to whom the Rowan County last will and testament was given.  More research is needed.
1757.  During the April Term of the York County, Pennsylvania, Court of Common Pleas, John McMachin for use of Thomas Lormer [Larimer?] vs Hugh Vogan & Hance Hamilton, Esq. -- Came to hand too late. 

1757.  During the July Term of the York County, Pennsylvania, Court of Common Pleas, John McMakin for the use of Thomas Lormer [Larimer?] vs Hugh Vogan & Hance Hamilton -- Summons served. 

1762.  John McMahon and James McMahon were each taxed in Mount Joy Township of York County, Pennsylvania,
 as was Thomas Laremore. 

3 June 1763.  Abraham Emmit of Cecil County, Maryland. and Rebeckah his wife, sold a 200 acre tract in Frederick County, Maryland, which had been obtained by deed from Samuel Emmit, bearing date 13 Sep. 1759, being part of a tract that he had purchased from Charles Carroll Esq., on 6 May 1757, to John McMahan of Carrolls Burg in Frederick County for £300.  The land was part of a tract called Carrolls Burgh, and was adjacent to a tract sold to William Shields, on the banks of Thoms Creek, and about 3 perches below Turkey Run.  The deed was signed by Abraham Emmitt, Rebecca Emmitt [her mark]; the witnesses were Geo Catto, John Read, Thomas Palmer.  Receipt given.  The deed was acknowledged before two justices of Cecil County, certified by Francis Key, clerk of Cecil Co.  Transfer fee and duty paid to John Darnall.  This deed was recorded on 21 June 1763.  (See Frederick County, Maryland Deeds, Liber H, pp. 489-490.)

19 September 1765.  John McMachan, farmer, bought a tract called Brooke Reserve recorded in Liber I, pp. 1316-1317.  The seller was Gerard Briscoe of Frederick County, Maryland, Gentleman.  The previously sold tract was not in the metes and bounds of the former deed.  New metes and bounds were introduced.  Total acreage was 946 acres more or less.  John paid 5 pounds current money for the revised deed.  The witnesses were Andrew Haigh and Wm Luckett.  The deed was recorded on 4 Mar. 1769 (see Frederick County, Maryland, Liber M, pp. 10-11). 

21 June 1769.  Jacob Martin, Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, bought 123 acres in Brookes Reserve from John McMahon, Frederick County, Maryland, for 100 pounds pennsilvania Currency.  The witnesses were Robert Peter and ???aigg Walton.  John’s wife was identified as Agness McMahon.  John McMahon made his mark.  The alienation fine (land transfer fee), paid on 22 June 1769, was four shillings & Eleven pence half peny sterling.  The deed was recorded on  29 Jun 1769 (see Frederick County, Maryland, Liber M, pp. 287-288). 
 

4 Jan(?) 1771.  Jno Brown from bought 220 acres, part of a tract of land called Brookes ?, together with water courses, houses, orchards, gardens, fences and all appurtenances from Jno MacMachan, farmer, of Frederick County, Maryland for 20 pounds current money. Wm Blair and Wm Anderson were the witnesses.  Jno McMachon made his mark.  The alienation fine (land transfer fee) was eight shillings and two pence.  John’s wife was identified as Agness McMahon.  The deed was recorded on 14 Dec. 1771 (see Frederick County, Maryland, Liber O, pp. 677-678). 

23 Jan. 1771.  John McMahon, Frederick County, bought all that tract of land called Martins Fields containing 100 acres from Charles Carroll Esq. of the City of Annapolis, for five pounds sterling.  The lone witness was Wm Deards.  The deed was recorded on 26 Mar 1771 .  The alienation fine (land transfer fee) was four shillings sterling (see Frederick County, Maryland, Liber O, pp. 123-123). 

26 Apr. 1771.  William & John Witherow bought 244 acres in Brookes Reserve from John McMahon, farmer, Frederick County, Maryland, for 400 pounds current money.  The witnesses were Wm Blair and David White.  John McMahon’s wife was identified as Agness McMachon.  John McMahon made his mark.  The alienation fine (land transfer fee) was nine shillings and nine pence.  The deed was recorded on 27 April 1771 (see Frederick County, Maryland, Liber O, pp. 327-328). 

30 December 1772.  John McMachan, farmer, Frederick County, Maryland, sold a male slave named William, 23, for 100 pounds currency money, to John Traxall, farmer, Frederick County, Maryland.  John McMahon made his mark.  The sale was recorded on 6 Jan. 1773 (see Frederick County, Maryland, Liber P, p. 540).

18 April 1774.  John wrote a first last will and testament, filed upon his death in Frederick County, Maryland, the text of which follows (emphasis and paragraphing added):

In the Name of God Amen I John McMahan of York County Yeoman being of sound and disposing mind and memory, an calling to mind the Mortality of my Body & that it is appointed for all Men once to die, do make and ordain this my last Will and Testament in the Manner & Form following 
First that when the Lord shall be pleased to take my Soul from this Body of Clay and put an End to this my temporary Life I do direct that my Body may be decently buried and the Expense thereof paid out of my Estate.  
Secondly I will and direct that all of my Just Debts be paid out of my Estate 
Thirdly I will & devise unto my Grandsons James McMahan & William McMahan (Children of my Son James) and to their Heirs and assigns forever, all that Plantation and Tract of Land situate in Frederick County in the Province of Maryland, adjoining Lands of John Patterson & John Stroyer Michael Smith & others containing about one hundred acres of Land with the appurtenances to have and to hold the said Plantation Tract of Land & Premisses unto my said Grandsons James McMahan & William McMahan their Heirs and assigns to the only use and Behoof of the said James and William their Heirs and assigns forever as Tenants in Common & not as joint Tenants, subject to the paying the following Sums therefore & thereout to wit, that they the said James and William pay unto my Grandson John Pursley ten pounds lawful Money of Pennsylvania, unto my Grandson John Anderson ten pounds like Money, unto John McCune my Grandson ten pounds like Money & unto my Grandson John Lammer thirty pounds like Money aforesaid.  
Fourthly I will and devise my plantations in Montjoy Township, York County in the Province of Pennsylvania adjoining Lands of Paul Timmons John Divendall, Andrew McGowan and others, containing about one hundred and fifty acres of Land with appurtenances, unto my Son James McMahan, during the Term of his natural Life, and after the Death of the said James McMahan my son I will and devise the said Plantation and Tract of Land Hereditaments and premisses with the appurtenances unto my Grand-Children Samuel McMahan Agnes McMahan & Jean McMahan and to their Heirs and assigns to have and to hold the said last mentioned Plantation Tract of Land and Premisses with the appurtenances, unto my said Grand Children Samuel Agnes & Jean their Heirs and assigns, to the only use and Behoof of the said Samuel Agnes & Jean their Heirs and assigns forever as Tenants in Common and not as joint Tenants.  
Lastly I do constitute and appoint my Friends Thomas Larim and Samuel Emet Executors of this my Will & I do hereby authorize and impower the said Executors or the Survivor of them to take Care of Plantation in Frederick County till my Grand-Sons James McMahan & William McMahan shall be of age, & that they the said executors or Survivors of them shall if they or he shall esteem it most advantageous for the said James & William, make Sale of the said Plantation in Frederick County Heredisaments and Premisses to the best advantage and the Money arising from the Sale thereof after deducting the Legacies aforesaid bequeathed to be paid by the said James & William to the persons aforesaid to be laid out at Interest for the said James & William by the said Thomas Larimer and Samuel Emit whom I do hereby also appoint Guardians for the said James and William In Testimony whereeof I had her unto set my Hand & Seal this 18th Day of April 1774






John {his mark} McMahan {seal}
Signed Seal'd published and declared in the presence of Will Scott Michael Billmyer Andreas Billmyer

I understand John McMahan deceased mentioned me in a Will he left behind him, but had not my Consent for I never heard of it till of late.  However an ailment I am troubled with at Times renders me unable to undertake in such an affair I can have nothing to do with it Mean Time I am






Your very humble Ser






Samuel Emmit

August 2d 1779

To Mr Mordoch Commissary

Frederick County July 1st 1779

Then came Thomas Larimar & made Oath in the holy Evangelists of almighty God that the foregoing is the true and whole Will and Testament of John McMahan late of Frederick County deceasd that has come to his Hands or possession & that he doth not know of any other






George Murdock. Regr

Frederick County July 1st 1779

Then came William Scott & Andrew Bilmyer two of the subscribing Witnesses to the foregoing last Will & Testament of John McMahan late of Frederick County deceased and made oath in the holy Evangelist of almighty God that they did see the Testator therein named sign and Seal this Will & that they heard him publish pronounce & declare the same to be his last Will and Testament, that at the Time of his so doing he was to the best of their apprehenssions of sound and disposing Mind, Memory and understanding and that they respectively subscribed their Names as Witnesses to this Will in the presence and at the Request of the Testator, and that they did also see Michael Billmyer the other subscribing Witness subscribe his Name as a Witness to said Will in the presence and at the Request of the Testator & all in the presence of each other






George Murdock Regr

The parents of John McCune, and Samuel, Agnes, and Jean McMahan, John’s grandchildren, are unknown.  The father of John McCune might be either Thomas or Samuel McCune.  Both lived in that portion of York County, Pennsylvania, that became Adams County.
  Son Samuel MCMAHAN is the logical choice as the father of the MCMAHAN grandchildren.   More research is needed.

Both John Patterson and Michael Smith from the Tom’s Creek Hundred of Frederick County, Maryland (or their namesake sons/grandsons), served as privates in the German Regiment of the Continental Army during the Revolution.  This unit, raised in Pennsylvania and Maryland, saw action at the Battle of White Plains, New York.
  The two (or namesake sons/grandsons) were identified as being among John McMahan’s neighbors in his Frederick County last will and testament.

Samuel Emmitt’s refusal to be an executor might have been a lucky stroke for the family.  According to Frederick Welty’s 1957 letter to the Editor of the Frederick Post (emphasis as in original),
 
Samuel Emmitt was not the kindly, large handed, paternal, Irishman represented today in accounts.  Quite the contrary.  The best evidence indicates he was a mean-spirited, religious bigot.  A money grubber who looked out only for his interest, caring nothing for the hardships of others who settled in the valley near him.  Record shows that he forced the Lutherans to build their ‘Little’ church up an alley, and that he drove his own Presbyterian pastor from the town.

Because of his unscrupulous actions, Samuel Emmitt was ultimately denounced from the pulpit of the old Toms Creek Presbyterian Church, as "unjust, slanderous, and vexatious."
John’s “Friend,” Samuel Emmitt, in his refusal to be executor for John’s estate, does not sound very friendly. 

Between April 1774 and July 1776.  John moved from York County, Pennsylvania, to Rowan County, North Carolina.

3 March 1775.  A John McMichin sold land in York Township, York County, Pennsylvania, to John McCalister. 

31 July 1776.  John wrote a second last will and testament, filed upon his death in Rowan County, North Carolina, the text of which follows (emphasis and paragraphing added): 
North Carolina Rowan County July the 31st 1776 
In the name of God Amen I John McMahan of the County and province aforesaid being very sick and weak of body but of perfect mind and memory thanks be to God for it and calling to mind the mortality of man and that it is appointed for man once to die Do declar this to be my last Will and Testament and all other Will or Wills heretofore made by me to be of none Effect but void and of and this to stand in full force and virtue - 
I first of all Recommend my Soul to God that gave it me and to the Earth to be buried in decent Christian Burial not doubting at the Resurrection to receive it an imortal Body. 
I give and bequeath to my Son James McMahan Five shillings Sterling also Samuel McMahan five Shillings Sterling also my beloved Daughter Katherine Larrimore five Shillings Sterling also my beloved Daughter Mary Morrison, five Shillings Sterling, also my beloved Daughter Jane Pursley five shillings Sterling also my beloved Daughter Agnes Anderson a Bond lying in David Kenades hands the sum of Thirty five pounds besides Interest except two half Joes I received three years ago, likewise the Interest of a Twenty Six pound Bond that is in his hands. 
I do impower David Kenedy and Samuel Emit to sell a Tract of land Containing two hundred acres lying on Toms Creek and to put the money to use for my two Grandsons James and William McMahan and I do apoint David Kenedy and Samuel Emet to be my Executors and that out of my Estate all my lawfull Debts be paid and Legaceys left by me Signed Sealed and delivered published and pronounced
In presence of 
William Miller



John {his mark} McMahan {seal}
James Hays 
N.B. The above will not administered on in this county the Exrs. living in pensylvania; delivered to Wm. Anderson
5 Dec. 1793.  Seizure and sale of the late John McMahan’s Pennsylvania land for an unpaid debt (emphasis added):

Godfrey Lenhart Esquire High Sheriff of the County of York in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, To all to whom these presents shall come, Sendeth Greeting:  Whereas John Price lately in the County Court of Common Pleas of York County & State of Pennsylvania aforesaid, to wit in June Term which was in the Year of our Lord One thousand seven hundred and ninety three, by his Plaint and by the Judgment of the same Court Recovered against Thomas Larimore Executor of the last Will and Testament of John McMechan deceased as well the Sum of Seven hundred Pounds fifteen Shillings & ten pence lawful money of Pennsylvania of Debt as five pounds three Shillings & three pence which in the same Court were Adjudged to the said John Price for his Damages which he sustained by Occasion of the detention of the said debt, And Whereas by a Writ of Fieri Facias of the Commonwealth foresaid Issuing out of the Court of Common pleas, Tested at York the Eight day of June which was in the year of our Lord 1793, and to the said Sheriff directed he was Commanded that of the Goods and Chattels Lands and Tenements of the aforesaid John McMechan deceased in the Hands and Possession of Thomas Larimore aforesaid in his Bailiwick, he should Cause to be made and levied, as well the aforesaid debt of seven hundred Pounds fifteen Shillings and ten Pence money aforesaid as five pounds three Shillings & three pence Damages, and that he should have these monies before the Judges of the said Court at York aforesaid on the first Monday of September next after the date of the said recited Writ, to render unto the said John Price for his Debt & Damages aforesaid and that Writ.  At which day and place in the said recited Writ mentioned, he the said Sheriff returned to the Judges aforesaid, That by virtue of the aforesaid Writ to him directed as aforesaid, he had seized and taken in Execution as the Estate of the aforesaid John McMechan, a Certain Improvement and Tract of Land situate in Montjoy Township in the County of York aforesaid, Containing One hundred & eighty one Acres (be the same more or less), Adjoining Lands of John Diefendall, James Beus, Mathew Riffel, Peter Zell and others, which remained in his Hands unsold for want of Buyers, And Whereas by an Inquisition of twelve good and lawful men of the County aforesaid.  Indented and taken before the said Godfrey Lenhart Esquire high Sheriff as aforesaid, on the twenty ninth day of July Anno Domini 1793, now last past, at York aforesaid upon the Oaths and Affirmations of the said Inquest well and truly to inquire whether the said described Improvement & Tract of Land with the Appurtenances was sufficient by the Clear Yearly Rents, Issues and Profits beyond all Reprizes to satisfy the said Debt and Damages in seven Years or not, by which said Inquisition under the Hand & Seal of the said Sheriff, and the Hands & Seals of the said Inquest it was found that the aforesaid Improvement and Tract of Land was not sufficient by the clear yearly Rents Issues and Profits beyond all reprizes, to satisfy the said Debt and Damages in seven Years, as by the said Inquisition annexed to the said Writ of Fieri Facias may more fully appead.  And Whereas by a Writ of Vendition Exponas of the Commonwealth aforesaid Issued out of the same Court, Tested at York the seventh day of September last past and returnable into the same Court at York, to wit, on the first Monday in December then next and to the said Sheriff directed, he was Commanded that the aforesaid described Improvement and Tract of Land and premises with the Appurtenances so as afore said by the said Sheriff seized and taken in Execution as the Estate of the said John McMechan he should expose to Sale and the money thereof amounting to the Sum of seven hundred Pounds fifteen Shillings and ten pence lawful money aforesaid of Debt, as also the Sum of Five pounds three Shilling & three pence Damages as aforesaid he should have before the Judges of the said Court at York aforesaid the first Monday in December then next, to render to the said John Price for his Debt and Damages aforesaid and that Writ; At which day and place in the said recited Writ of Venditisni Exponas to him directed as aforesaid on the twelfth day of October last past after due and legal Notice had been first given of the Day and Place of Sale, and the premises to be sold, he Exposed to sale by way of Public Vendue at the Court House in the Borough of York the aforesaid Improvement and Tract of Land Containing One hundred and eighty one Acres (be the same more or less) as aforesaid and the same was then and there accordingly sold & struck off unto Thomas Duncan and Charles Smith Esquires Attornies at Law for the Sum of One hundred Pounds money aforesaid(they being the highest Bidders for the same) which money he had ready before the Judges aforesaid on the Day and Place in the said Writ mentioned to Render to the said John Price for his Debt and Damages aforesaid as by the said last recited Writ and the Return hereon indorsed remaining among the Files and Records of the said Court Relation being thereunto had more fully and at large may appear.  Now Know Ye That the said Godfrey Lenhart Esquire High Sheriff as aforesaid for and in Consideration of the said Thomas Duncan and Charles Smith at or before the ensealing and delivery hereof the Receipt and Payment whereof is hereby acknowledged.  Hath granted bargained and sold, & by Virtue of the said last recited Writ and the Proceedings aforesaid and of the Laws of this State in such Case made and Provided Doth grant bargain and sell unto the said Thomas Duncan & Charles Smith and to their Heirs and Assigns, All the aforesaid described Improvement and Tract of Land, with the Rights, Members, and Appurtenances whatsoever thereto belonging or in any wise Appertaining and the Reversions and Remainders, Rents, Issues and Profits thereof, and also all the Estate Right Title and Interest whatsoever of him the said John McMechan at and immediately before the time of his death of in and to the premise aforesaid or of any part or parcel thereof To Have and to Hold the aforesaid described Improvement and Tract of Land Containing One hundred & eighty one Acres (be the same more or less as aforesaid) Hereditaments and Premises hereby granted or meant mentioned or intended so to be with the Appurtenances unto the said Thomas Duncan and Charles Smith their Heirs & Assigns, to the only proper Use and Behoof of the said Thomas Duncan & Charles Smith their Heirs & Assigns forever (as Tenants in Common and not as Joint Tenants) for such estate as the said John McMahan held the same at and immediately before the time of his death, and for no other or greater Estate whatsoever according to the Form, Force and Office of the [illegible] aforesaid in such Case made and Provided.  In Witness whereof the said Sheriff hath hereunto set his Hand & Seal of Office the fifth day of December in the Year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred & Ninety three---

Sealed and Delivered in the presense of Us }

Jno. Laub ---- Conrad Laub

Acknowledged in Open Court on the fifth day of December 1793 by Godfrey Lenhart Esquire

{Court Seal} High Sheriff of York County In Testamony whereof i have hereunto set my Hand & affixed the Seal of the Court. --- ? Miller Prothry

A true Copy taken from & Compared with the Original at York the 7th day of May Anno Domini 1794 .

J Barnitz Recorder

It is interesting to note that, on 5 December 1793, John McMechan’s land was sold by its new owners to John Michael Stoltz and Peter Zell (a neighbor) for £395 lawful money of Pennsylvania.

129
Agness (see above deeds of 21 June 1769 and  27 Apr. 1771)
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Thomas FAMBROUGH

According to Thomas Fambrough of Virginia, a book by Dave Boatman, the former historian of the Fambrough Family Society, 
THOMAS FAMBROUGH, of Virginia, may be the son of Thomas Fambrough “the elder” of Accomack county, Virginia, who appeared in the Tithables of that county from 1689 until 1693.  Thomas, the elder, may have died in Accomack county or moved “west” to Henrico county, in the area that became Albemarle county, Virginia, in 1744.  Thomas, our subject, may have married in Albemarle or Goochland county where the records reveal three Fambroughs who could be his.
The three possible/probable children of Thomas Fambrough identified in Thomas Fambrough of Virginia are Thomas (circa 1727 - Sep. 1791), Benjamin (circa 1734 - circa 1809), and Catherine (before 1740 - 1770 or later).  Of these three, Thomas married Mary Anderson before 1747, Catherine married Bartlett Gwinn before 1756, and Benjamin married an unknown wife sometime before circa 1753.
Some online genealogies identify the father of Thomas the elder as Edward Farmborough of Stone, Buckinghamshire, England.  Evidently, Edward did indeed have a son named Thomas who came to America.  He died in Philadelphia, however.
  If the on-line genealogies are correct about his birth year, 1644, he was likely a contemporary of Thomas the elder. 

[image: image2.png]



156
John MULLINS (also MULLENS and MULLINGS)
John Mullins first appears in Amelia County in 1737.  At that time, he was living in the area above Flatt Creek, and he lived in that area until at least 1741.  He was last known to be living in Amelia County in 1746.  In 1743, he was identified as living in the vicinity of the Little Buffalo River.  He was also living in the general vicinity of the Bush River in 1743, and in the general vicinity of the Briery, Little Roanoak, and Little Buffalo Rivers in 1745.  It appears that Richard Randolph patented John’s land in 1745.  John had had the land surveyed for a patent, it might be noted.
Beginning in 1746, John appears to have been struggling with debt, as numerous Lunenburg County court cases would seem to imply.  The Lunenburg County cases appear to have ended in 1765.  Since Charlotte County was created from Lunenburg in 1765, it is likely that the cases continued in the courts of that county.
By 1749, John appears to have been living in Lunenburg County in the vicinity of the Little Roanoak River.  In 1751, he patented 520 acres on the west side of the Little Roanoak. 
The nature of John’s work is never explicitly stated.  He was likely a farmer whose primary cash crop was tobacco.  This is just an educated guess, however.
By 1716.  Born (based on first appearing on Amelia County tax lists in 1737).
1736.  Tithable lists of Amelia County, Virginia, do not mention John Mullins.

1737.  Jno. Dawson's Tithables List, Amelia County, Virginia, above Flatt Creek:  Jno Mullin & E? Nelson--2 tithes. 

1738.  John Burton's Tithables List, Amelia County, Virginia, above Flatt Creek:  John Mullens--1 tithe. 

1739.  Unknown Enumerator, Tithables List, Amelia County, Virginia, above Flatt Crike:  John Mullins--1 tithe. 

2 Mar. 1739.  Son Joseph was born in that portion of Amelia County, Virginia, that became Prince Edward County.

1740.  Tithable lists of Amelia County, Virginia, do not mention John Mullins. 

1741.  John Barton's Tithables List, Amelia County, Virginia, above Flatt Creek:  John Mullins--1 tithe. 

18 Dec 1741.  Ordered Henry Walhall Surveyor of a Road to be cleared from Mr Nashes quarter on Boush river into Osborns road.  Jno Mullins Charles Cottrell Edward Haskins and Mr Nashes Male Tithables to assist in doing the same.  (See Amelia County Order Book 1, p. 182.)

1742-1745.  Tithable lists of Amelia County, Virginia, do not mention John Mullins. 

30 Jun 1743. John Gauling granted 400 acres in Amelia County on both sides of little Buffillo, bounded by Joseph Morton, Hugh Nickson and John Mullins. Based upon the property description, Joseph Morton and John Mullins were both on the north side of Gauling. Morton was also on Gauling’s west.  Morton was west of Mullins.  Nickson was west, south, and prossibly east of Gauling.

21 Oct 1743.  John Nash Gent appointed Surveyor of a Road from Boush river Bridge across Saylors Creek into Walkers Road the Persons to do it are Mr Nash James Rutlidge Richd. Rutlidg John Mullins Edmund Gross Charles Cotteril Dougls Puckett Mrs. Cobb and Edward Haskins's male tithables. (See Amelia County Order Book 1, p. 248). 

1744.  In Brunswick County, Virginia, John Mullens was a witness to the transfer of 214 acres from Jonathan Horsford of Brunswick County to Richard Kennon of Charles City County for 80 pounds on 25 Nov. 1744 (see Brunswick County Deed Book 2, p. 533).
  Brunswick was Lunenburg’s parent county, it might be noted.
17 May 1745.  Ordered that a Road be cleared from the Head of Little Ronoak along the Ridge between Briery and Buffalloe Rivers to Rutlidges ford over Appomattox River, Charles Rickey, Hugh Rickey, Alexander Rickey, ffrancis Rice, Richard Woodson, Ralph Elkin, John Hudson, John Bibb, Joseph Moron, John Martin, Hugh Nixon, John Mullins, Charles Anderson and their Tiths and all other Persons convenient thereto and not employed on other Roads are to clear the same And that Charles Anderson be Surveyor thereof. (See Amelia County Order Book 1, p. 314). 

June 1746.  Read vs. Mullins (Clement Read, Petitioner, against John Mullins, Defendant), June Court 1746, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The court ruled against the defendant, who was ordered to pay 2 pounds, 13 shillings, 9 pence, plus costs of petitioner.
 
18 Sep 1746.  Deed from Richard Randolph, of Henrico, to John Watson Jr of Goochland, conveying land in Amelia [now Prince Edward] surveyed for John Mullins and granted to Randolph by patent dated 10 Mar 1745 containing 496 acres, 451 acres of said patent lying on upper side of Little Buffaloe and on south side of said Mullin's Spring Branch.  Richard Randolph {seal}.  Witnesses:  W. Womack, Obadiah Woodson, Charles S. Spralding(?).  (see Amelia Deed Book 2, p. 179.)
  The original grant does not mention neighbors and says that the property is on both sides of the Little Buffilo.
1746.  Jno. Nash's Tithables List, Amelia County, Virginia:  John Mullins--1 tithe. 

June – Sep. 1747.  Baldwin vs. Mullins (John Baldwin, Plaintiff, vs. John Mullins Defendant), Lunenburg County, Virginia.   During the June Court 1747, the case was extended until the next court.  During the July Court 1747, the case was continued.  During the September Court 1747, the case was continued and also the court ordered a deposition to be taken from Sarah Baldwin.

Nov. 1747.  John Mullins was part of the jury for the case of The King vs. William Caldwell, Gent., which occurred during the Nov. Court 1747, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The defendant was indicted for assault and battery.  The jury ruled against the defendant. 

Dec. 1747.  Bradford vs. Mullins (Edward Bradford, Plaintiff, vs. John Mullins, Defendant), Dec. Court 1747, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The plaintiff said that John Mullins owed him 3 pounds, 16 shillings, and 1/2 pence.  The defendant did not appear in court, so the court ruled against the defendant and assessed him the debt, plus costs of the plaintiff. 

Dec. 1747.  Irby vs. Mullins (Charles Irby, Gent., Petitioner, against John Mullins), Lunenburg County, Virginia.   During the Dec. Court 1747, Charles Irby, Gent., appeared before the court and asserted that John Mullins owed him money.  The defendant's attorney said that nothing was owed.  The case was continued until the next court.  During the Feb. Court 1747/48, John Mullins acknowledged his debt of 3 pounds and 4 shillings to Charles Irby.  The court found for the plaintiff and ordered the defendant to pay the debt plus court costs of the plaintiff. 

Dec. 1747.  John Mullins was among a group of men in Lunenburg County, Virginia, who did not appear for jury duty.  For that reason, during the Dec. Court 1747, the court ordered the sheriff to summon the men to show cause on why they did not serve on the jury.

10 Jun 1748.  Lydall Bacon’s Tithables List for Lunenburg County, Virginia, included John Mullins with 1 tithe. 

1749. William Caldwell’s Tithables List for Lunenburg County, Virginia, from Falling River to Little Roanoke River included John Mullins with 1 tithe. 

5 Feb. 1748/49.  Ordered that a Road be laid off and Cleared the nearest and best way from the Ridge road that leads from Rutledges ford on Appomattox River to the Bridge over Little Ronoke, and Richard Hill is appointed Surveyor thereeof and it is ordered he with the Male Labouring Tithable persons following, to wit, Owen Sullivant, Daniel Sullivent Jacob Stober, Ruben Roy, Capt John Ruffins Tithables at his Quarter, John Mount, John Mullins Stephen Collins & his, Thomas Rice, Charles Harris and those of Nanny Dabbs forthwith Clear and keep the same in Repair According to Law.  (See Lunenburg County Court Order Book, 5 Feb 1748, p. 102.) 

5 Feb. 1748/49.  John Mullins was among those assigned to build a road in Lunenburg County “from the Ridge road that leads from Rutledges foard on Appomattox River to the Bridge over Little Ronoke….” (see Lunenburg County Court Order Book 1, p. 102). 

Feb. 1747/48.  During the Feb. Court 1747/48 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, James Scott said that John Mullins owed him money.  The defendant's attorney said that nothing was owed.  The case was continued until the next court.
  
June 1748.  Scott vs. Mullins (James Scott, Petitioner, against John Mullins, Defendant), June Court 1748, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The defendant acknowledged the debt, and the court ordered the defendant to pay the debt of 4 pounds, 12 shillings, 8 pence, plus court costs of the petitioner. 

June 1748.  June Court 1748, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  John Mullins, accused of contempt, explained his reasons, and the court discharged him.
 [NB:  This probably is a result of his failing to show for jury duty earlier].
1749.  John Mullens was listed with one tithable in Tithe lists for Lunenburg County, Virginia.
 
Oct. 1749.  Dixon vs. Mullins (Josiah Dixon, Petitioner, against John Mullins, Defendant), October Court 1749, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The defendant failed to show, so the court ruled for the petitioner and ordered payment by the defendant to the petitioner of 3 pounds, 10 shillings, plus costs of the petitioner. 

1750.  William Caldwell’s Tithables List for Lunenburg County, Virginia, from Little Roanoke up the Fork included John Mullens with 1 tithe. 
 
July 1750.  Idem vs. Mullins, July Court 1750, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  Petition of John Hall, Gent., against John Mullins for debt dismissed. 

30 Mar. 1751.  John Mullins was a witness to a sale of 395 acres in Lunenburg County, Virginia, on both sides of a creek of the Falling River by Joseph Morton, Jr., of Amelia County, Virginia, to John Mosely of Cumberland County, VA for 30 pounds.  The land was originally patented by Morton on 1 June 1750.
   
5 July 1751.  John Mullings obtained a land patent in Lunenburg County, Virginia, for 520 acres on the west side of the Little Roanoke beginning at Lidderdale's corner in 1751.
  This land was in that portion of Lunenburg County that later (in 1765) became Charlotte County, Virginia.
Oct. 1751.  Jones vs. Mullins (Robert Jones, Jr., Gent., Petitioner, against John Mullins, Defendant), Oct. Court 1751, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The defendant failed to appear in court, so the court ruled for the petitioner and ordered the defendant to pay debt of 1 pound, 9 shillings, plus costs of the petitioner. 

Nov. 1752.  Mullins vs. Cott (John Mullins, Petitioner, against James Cott, Defendant), November Court 1752, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The defendant owed 1 pound, fifteen shillings current money to the petitioner, which the court ruled could be recovered by the petitioner from the defendant, along with the court costs of the petitioner. 

July 1753.  Cole vs. Mullins (James Cole, Petitioner, against John Mullins, Defendant), July Court 1753, Lunenburg County, Virginia.   The defendant owed 2 pounds, 1 shilling, 3 pence, 1/2 penny current money to the petitioner, which the court ruled could be recovered by the petitioner from the defendant, along with the court costs of the petitioner. 

July 1753.  During the July Court 1753 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, John Cole, a witness for James Cole in his suit against John Mullins, moved that Thomas Ward pay him for one days attendance at court. This the court so ordered.
  
July 1753.  Read vs. Mullins (Clement Read, Petitioner, against John Mullins, Defendant), July Court 1753, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The defendant owed 3 pounds, 11 shillings, 2 pence current money to the petitioner, which the court ruled could be recovered by the petitioner from the defendant, along with the court costs of the petitioner.
  
May 1754.  Mullins vs. Womack (John Mullins, Plaintiff, against Richard Womack, Defendant), May Court 1754, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  A jury found for the defendant, who was accused of taking hogs from the plaintiff.  The court ruled that the defendant could recover his costs from the plaintiff. 
 
May 1754.  During the May Court 1754 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, John Waller, a witness for Richard Womack in the suit by John Mullins, moved that Richard Womack pay him for 16 days attendance at court. This the court so ordered. 

May 1754.  During the May Court 1754 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, Christopher Gormer, a witness for John Mullins in the suit against Richard Womack, moved that John Mullins pay him for 5 days attendance at court. This the court so ordered.
  
May 1754.  During the May Court 1754 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, John Austin, a witness for John Mullins in the suit against Richard Womack, moved that John Mullins pay him for 6 days attendance at court. This the court so ordered.
  
August 1754.  Clement Read Plaintif Against John Mullens Deft., Attachment.  Continued on the Motion of the Plaintif.

August 1754.  James Cole Esq Plt ag John Mullens Deft, On Attachment.  Continued on the Motion of the Plt by his attorney. 

March 1755.  Clement Read Esq., Plt agt John Mullens Defendt., On Attachment.  Continued on the Motion of the Plt by his attorney.

March 1755.  James Cole Plaintif Against John Mullens Defendt., On Attachment.  Continued on the Motion of the Plt by his attorney. 

April 1755.  Clement Read Plt Against John Mullens Deft., On Attachment.  Continued on the Motion of the Plaintif by his attorney.

May 1755.  James Cole Plaintif Against John Mullens Deft., On Attachment.  Continued on the Motion of the Plaintif by his attorney. 

May 1755.  Clement Read Plt agt John Mullens Defendt., On Attachment.  Continued on the Motion of the Plt by his attorney.

1756.  John Mullings was identified as a neighbor in a patent of 725 acres in the vicinity of the Little Roanoke River in Lunenburg County, Virginia, that was patented by Joseph Morton, Jr., in 1756.
 
Feb. 1756.  Mullins vs. Jefferson (William Mullins, an Infant under the age of 21 years by John Mullins his father, Plaintiff, against Field Jefferson, Defendant), Feb. Court 1756, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  A jury found for the defendant and the court ruled that the defendant could recover his court costs from John Mullins.
 
May 1756.  Clement Read Plt Against John Mullens Deft., On Attachment.  Continued by Consent of the Parties.

June 1756.  During the June Court 1756 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, Stephen Collins, a witness for William Mullins, an infant under the age of 21 years by John Mullins his father in the suit against Field Jefferson, moved that he be paid for 14 days attendance at court.  This the court ordered John Mullins to pay.
  
Aug. 1756.  James Cole Plt. Against John Mullens Deft., On Attachment.  Continued by Consent of Parties. 

Mar. 1757.  James Cole Plaintif Against John Mullens Defandt., On Attachment.  Continued by Consent of Parties. 

July 1757.  During the July Court 1757 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, Joel Stow, a witness for Richard Womack in his suit by John Mullins, moved that he be paid for 9 days attendance at court by Richard Womack.  This the court so ordered.
  
July 1757.  During the July Court 1757 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, John Mullins, a witness for Richard Ward in his suit against Nathaniel Chrishan, moved that he be paid for 4 days attendance at court by Richard Ward.  This the court so ordered.
  
Aug. 1757.  James Cole Plaintif Ag John Mullens Def., On Attachment.  Continued by Consent of Parties. 

Aug. 1757.  Clement Read Esq., Plt Against John Mullens Deft, On Attachment.  Continued by Consent of Parties. 

Oct. 1757.  Clement Read Esq., Plt Against John Mullens Defendt, On Attachment.  Continued by Consent of Parties. 

Nov. 1757.  James Cole Plaintif Against John Mullens Deft., On Attachment.  Continued by Consent of Parties. 

Nov. 1757.  Clement Read Esq., Plt Against John Mullens Deft, On Attachment.  Continued by Consent of Parties. 

Dec. 1757.  James Cole Plt Agt John Mullens Deft., On Attachment.  Dismissed the Plaintif failing to Prosecute. 

Dec. 1757.  Clement Read Plt Against John Mullens Deft., On Attachment.  Dismissed the Plaintif failing to Prosecute. 

August 1758.  Womack vs. Mullins (Richard Womack, Petitioner, against John Mullins, Defendant), August Court 1758, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The petitioner alleged that the defendant owed him a debt of 225 pounds of new tobacco, which the court ordered paid by the defendant to the petitioner, along with his court costs.
  
August 1758.  During the August Court 1758 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, Joseph Morton, a witness for John Mullins in the suit by Richard Womack, moved that he be paid for 1 days attendance at court by John Mullins.  This the court so ordered.
  
October 1758.  During the October Court 1758 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, the court ordered that William Holt, John Mullins, John Jones, and Samuel Moreton, or any three of them, to value the improvements on 1153 acres belonging to Bartlett Anderson, and return a valuation of them at the next session of court.
  
December 1758.  Cole vs. Mullins (James Cole, Plaintiff, against John Mullins, Defendant), December Court 1758, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The defendant not appearing, the court ruled for the plaintiff and ordered that the defendant pay 2 pounds, 1 shilling, 3 pence debt and 430 pounds of net tobacco and 7 shillings and the plaintiff's court costs.  The court also stated that 2 pounds 8 shillings of the judgment had been satisfied.
  
1759-1765.  John Mullins appears in the Prince Edward County Court Order Book 2 on pages 44, 61, 64, and 71.
 
May 1759.  Mullins and Perryman, May Court 1759, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  John Mullins had obtained an attachment on the estate of David Perryman, who had vanished.  Perryman owed Mullins 10 pounds, 15 shillings current money.  The attachment was placed in the hands of Richard Ship.  The court ordered that John Mullins recover the money owed plus his court costs from David Perryman, and the court further ordered that John Mullins have execution against Richard Ship for his debts and court costs.  The court stated that payment of 5 pounds, seven shillings, and six (?) pence current money plus 5 percent interest beginning 1 July 1758 shall satisfy the debt.
 [NB:  No information on how Richard Ship fits in, but he may have stood bond for David Perryman].
June 1759.  Cole vs. Mullins (James Cole, Plaintiff, against John Mullins, Defendant), June Court 1759, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The court ordered that the case be dismissed. 

July 1759.  Mullins vs. Perryman, July Court 1759, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  John Mullins was owed 10 pounds, 15 shillings current money by David Perryman.  The court ordered that John Mullins recover the debt from David Perryman and costs of John Mullins, and ordered the Sheriff to sell some property of David Perryman's.  The court ordered that the debt could be discharged by the payment of 5 pounds, 7 shillings, 6 pence plus 5 percent interest beginning on 1 July 1758. 

August 1759.  Stokes vs. Mullins (William Stokes, Petitioner, against John Mullins, Defendant), Debt, August Court 1759, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The court ruled for the petitioner based on the fact that he produced the defendant's note for 5 pounds, and ordered the defendant to pay the debt plus court costs of the petitioner. 

September 1759.  Mullins vs. Perryman (John Mullins, Complainant, against David Perryman, Defendant), September Court 1759, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  Pursuant to a previous court order, the sheriff returned 1 pound, 15 shillings, 9 pence current money, which was not equal to the debt owed to the plaintiff, so an execution was awarded to him against the defendant so that he could recover his debt and costs of the complainant.
  
Feb. 1760.  John Mullins Plaintif Against William Simmons Deft. In Debt.  This say same the Plaintif by his Attorney and the Defend. altho solemnly called came not but made Default therefore is Con ordered by the Court that Judgment be ordered for the Plt ag the said Defendt. & Abraham Venable his common bail for the debt in the Declaration Mentioned & Costs [illegible] shall appear & Plead to issue at the next Court. 

July 1760.  John Mullins Plaintif Against William Simmons Deft. In Debt.  Dissmist the Plaintif failing to Prosecute. 

July or August 1760.  John Mullins Plaintif Against Stephen Collens Defendt. On a seire Facias.  The Defendant not being served with the seire Facias on on the Motion of the Plt by his attorney an alias seire Facias is awarded him agt. The said Defendt. returnable here to the next Court.

August 1760.  Evans v. Mullins (Stephen Evans, Plaintiff, against John Mullins, Defendant), Debt, August Court 1760, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The defendant failing to appear, the court ruled for the plaintiff and awarded him 8 pounds current money plus court costs of the plaintiff. The court ruled that the debt (but not court costs) could be discharged by payment of 4 pounds current money plus 5 percent annual interest starting on 12 Sept. 1757. 

September 1760.  John Mullins Plt Against Stephen Collens Deft. On a Seire Facias. 

September 1760.  Collins v. Mullins (Stephen Collins, Plaintiff, against John Mullins, Defendant), September Court 1760, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The defendant failing to appear, the Court ruled for the plaintiff, and awarded the defendant the right to collect for 350 pounds net of tobacco [or to collect 350 pounds net of tobacco--the wording isn't clear], plus court costs of the plaintiff. 
 
December 1760.  Mullins v. Ward (John Mullins, Petitioner, against Thomas Ward, Defendant), December Court 1760, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The defendant did not appear in court, so the court, after hearing the testimony of John Mullins, ruled for the petitioner and awarded him 4 pounds current money and his costs.
 
December 1760.  During the December Court 1760 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, John Mullins, a witness for John Mullins in his suit against Thomas Ward, moved that Thomas Ward pay him for one days attendance at court. This the court so ordered.  

March 1761.  Mullins v. Yancey (John Mullins, Plaintiff, against Charles Yancey, Defendant), Slander, March Court 1761, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  A jury was seated and heard the case and ruled for the defendant and against the plaintiff.  The court ruled that the defendant may recover his costs from the plaintiff. 

March 1761.  During the March Court 1761 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, John Harvey, a witness for John Mullins in his suit against Charles Yancey, moved that Mullins pay him his costs.   This the court so ordered. 

March 1761.  During the March Court 1761 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, James Heath, a witness for Charles Yancey in the suit of John Mullins, moved that Yancey pay him his costs.  This the court so ordered. 
 
March 1761.  Mullins vs. Yancey (John Mullins, Plaintiff, against Charles Yancey, Defendant, Assault and Battery), March Court 1761, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  A jury was called to hear the case. 
 
March 1761.  During the March Court 1761 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, William Holt, a witness for Charles Yancey in the suit of John Mullins, moved that Yancey pay him his costs.   This the court so ordered. 

March 1761.  During the March Court 1761 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, Clement Read, a witness for Charles Yancey in the suit of John Mullins, moved that Yancey pay him his costs.   This the court so ordered. 

March 1761.  During the March Court 1761 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, Edmund Archdeacon, a witness for Charles Yancey in the suit of John Mullins, moved that Yancey pay him his costs.  This the court so ordered. 

March 1761.  During the March Court 1761 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, Edmund Gross, a witness for Charles Yancey in the suit of John Mullis [sic], moved that Yancey pay him his costs.  This the court so ordered. 

July 1761.  Hezekiah Bridgeman, Plaintiff against William Mullins & John Mullins Senr. Defendant, July Court 1761, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The court ruled for the plaintiff and awarded him damages plus his costs. 

August 1761.  During the August Court 1761 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, John Mullins served on the jury of the case Davis v. Patterson etc. 

Mar. 1762.  Robert S. & Company, Plaintiffs against John Mullins Senr., March Court 1762, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The case was dismissed. 

March 1762.  Mullins Plt agt Perryman, Def.  Judgment. 

April 1762.  David Penyman, Petitioner, against John Mullins, Defendant, April Court 1762, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The case was dismissed and the Petitioner was assessed the defendant's costs. 
 
April 1762.  During the April Court 1762 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, John Mullins was allowed one days attendance as a witness in John Mullins against David Penyman.
  
9 June 1763.  During court on 9 June 1763 in Lunenburg County, Virginia, Thomas Ward was granted an injunction staying the execution of a judgment obtained by John Mullins against Ward until the case could be heard in Equity [court]. 
 
Nov. 1763.  John Mullins p ag Danl. Perryman & [illegible -- M? Dejardine(?)].  S? on a Judgment ? by the Ct against ?.  March 9 1762 for £10.15.0 & 237?? Tobo & 15/ on 150 ? tobacco.  Judgment against the said Def. ???. 

1764. Elisha White, Genl., Tithables List for Cornwall Parish included John Mullins with 2 tithes.
 
13 July 1764.  Gd. Jury vs. Jno Mullins, 13 July 1764, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  John Mullins was fined 10 shillings or 100 pounds of tobacco for "Profane swearing two Oaths."  The fine was to go for the use of the poor in Cornwall Parish, which is where the offense was committed. 

16 March 1765.  Thomas Nelson, Petitioner, against John Mullins, Defendant, 16 March 1765, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The defendant did not appear in court, and the court ruled that the Petitioner could recover from the defendant 2 pounds 10 shillings with interest from 25 Dec. 1762, plus court costs.
  
16 March 1765.  James McCrane, Petitioner, against John Mullins, Defendant, 16 March 1765, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The defendant did not appear in court, and the court ruled for the Petitioner on 2 pounds 2 shillings 3 pence, which could be discharged by the defendant by payment of 1 pound 1 shilling and 3 pence plus interest from 1 May 1763, plus court costs of the Petitioner. 

16 Mar. 1765.  Panono (?) Anderson, Plaintiff, against John Mullins, Defendant, Debt, 16 March 1765, Lunenburg County, Virginia.  The Plaintiff did not appear in court and the court ordered the suit dismissed.
  
19 May 1772 & 1 June 1772.  Last will and testament of John Mullins of Charlotte County, Virginia (emphasis and paragraphing added):

Jno Mullins his Will proved:  In the Name of God Amen.  I John Mullins of Charlotte County being very sick and weak of body But of sound mind & Memory do make Constitute & appoint this my Last Will & Testament in manner and form as followeth.  
My Will is that my dearly beloved wife Susannah Mullins shall have the use of my Plantation during her natural Life.  
Item.  I give devise & bequeath to my Daughter Agness Mullins one hundred & Twenty Acres of Land Beginning at the mouth of Pider Branch and Runing along Bryant Fargusons Line to Joseph Mortons Line, thence along his Line to The Poplar Spring, from thence across to Lidderdales Line for Compliment including my Plantation to her & her heirs forever.  
Item.  I give to my Daughter Hannah Mullins one hundred Acres of Land Joining The part given to my Daughter Agness and Runing across from Joseph Mortons to Lidderdales Line to her & her heirs forever.
Item.  I give to my Daughter Precious Mullins one hundred Acres of Land Joining that given to my Daughter Hannah and Runing Across from Joseph Mortons to Lidderdales Line to her & her heirs forever.

Item.  I give to my Grandaughter Lidia Mullins one hundred Acres of Land it being the Remainder of my Tract to her and her heirs forever.

Item.  I give to my Grandaughter Jane Bower one hundred Acres of Land Joining that given to my Daughter Precious “---“--- and Runing across from Joseph Mortons to Lidderdales Line to her & her heirs forever, and my Will is --- if she should die without heir that her part shall go to her Brother James Bower.

Item.  I give to each of my sons five Shillings Sterling, to wit, William Mullins, John Mullins, David Mullins, Thomas Mullins, Joseph Mullins & Joshua Mullins
Item.  I give to my wife Susannah Mullins the use of my stock of all kinds during her Life and after her Death to be equally divided among my Daughters and Grand Daughters to whom I have given my Land, 

& I do declare this to be my Last Will & Testament, and hereby disanull & make void all other wills by me made as Witness my hand this nineteenth day of May one Thousand and seven hundred & seventytwo.




         his




John H Mullins

 


       mark











         her
Signed and Sealed in Presence of Thomas Morton, James Bower, Mary T Bowers










        mark

At a Court held for Charlotte County this first day of June 1772.  The above written Last Will & Testament of John Mullins Decd. Was Presented ? Court and Proved by the Oaths of the three Witnesses hereto Subscribed to be the [struck out words] and Ordered to be Recorded




Test Thomas Read ? Court

15 Feb. 1777 & 2 Feb. 1778.  Division of the estate of John Mullins (emphasis added):

Jno Mullins Division of Estate February the 15th 1777 Agreeable to an Order of the Worshipful Court of Charlotte to us directed, we the subscribers have divided The Estate of John Mullins Decd. as follows, to wit, 

Agness Mullins her part of the Stock 



£2
2
11 ¼
Household furniture





 1
6
6 ¾










£3
9
6

Hannah Mullins her part of Stock & furniture


3
9
6
Precious Mullins her part of Stock and furniture

3
9
6
Lydia Mullins her part . . .





2
2
11 ¼

Jane Bowers her part . . .





2
2
11 ¼
Susannah Prewit her part of HouseHold furniture

1
6
6 ¾

Mary Bowers her part of household furniture

1
6
6 ¾
Elizabeth Gray her part of Do




1
6
6 ¾
Ann Mullins her part of Do




1
6
6 ¾
John Mullins






-
6
3
Thomas Mullins






-
6
3
William Mullins






0
6
3
David Mullins






0
6
3
Joshua Mullins






0
6
3



Jacob Morton




Bryant Farguson




Josiah Morton

At a Court held for Charlotte County the 2d day of February 1778 The within Distribution of the Estate of John Mullins decd. was this day Returned and Ordered to be Recorded




Teste Thos. Read C.

157
Susannah ???
The parents of Susannah are currently unknown.  It is asserted by some that her father was Joseph Morton Sr.  It is asserted by others that her maiden name was Meigs (or Meegs).
The Mullins family lived next door to both Joseph Morton and Joseph Morton, Jr. (“Littlejoe”), in Charlotte County, Virginia.  The Morton lineages of Joseph and Little Joe have not been fully identified.
 

There were several men called Joseph Morton living in Virginia in the years before Susannah was born.  The last will and testament for one, probated in 1753, has been found (see Halifax County, Virginia, Will Book O, p. 12) and there is no mention in it of either "Susannah" (or variant) or "Mullins" (or variant).  Others have been extensively researched (see, for example, Daniel Morton, "The Morton Patriarchs of Virginia," Virginia History Magazine, Vol. 17, 1 July 1909, pp. 311-316, 339-340, 343-345), and no daughter named Susannah has been identified for them, either.  No daughter named Susannah has been noted for any Morton.  
The source of the surname Meigs/Meegs is reported to be research by the parents of Vinita Lebedeff. 
  Her parents (Ross and Mary Opal Jones) are long dead, and Vinita died well over a decade ago.
  The basis for saying that Susannah was a Meigs/Meegs is unknown.
   
The foregoing rules out neither Morton nor Meigs/Meegs as Susannah’s maiden name.  Rather, it indicates that the use of either is premature.  In fact, there was a close association between the John Mullins family and the Morton family that might have existed because Susannah was a Morton relation.  This should be further investigated.
Granddaughter Susannah Bly Mullins might have been named after an ancestor.  In fact, she might have been named after her paternal grandmother.  That is, Susannah, the wife of John Mullins, might have been Susannah Bly before her marriage.  
Gerri Franklin posited that this was the case and that Susannah Bly was from Bristol Parish and Prince George County, Virginia.
  Below is information on the Blys contained in the Vestry Book and Register of Bristol Parish: 
· 21 Oct 1731.  Susa. Bly was identified by the Vestry of Bristol Parish as being owed 100 [pounds of tobacco] for attending Phyllis Thacker.  

· 1726.  Mary Bly was identified in the register of Bristol Parish as the mother of Sarah, born on 29 April 1726 and baptized on 18 Dec. 
     
· 11 Apr 1730.  Birth (baptism?) of Joshua, child of Mary Blyth and Joshua Irby. 

· 21 Oct 1731.  Sarah Bly was ordered by the Vestry of Bristol Parish to be bound to John Derby until 18 or married and that she be taught to read. 
 
· Early 1731/32.  Eliz. Bly was identified by the Vestry of Bristol Parish as being owed 100 [pounds of tobacco] and 4 cask for no stated reason.  She was identified as being from the north side of Bristol Parish. 
 
· 5 Mar 1731/32.  Mary Bly’s child, Joshua Irby, born 17 Feb 1729/30, was ordered by the Vestry of Bristol Parish to be bound to John Derby. 

Gerri Franklin further posited that the Mary and Elizabeth Bly mentioned in the Bristol Parish records were Susannah's sisters.  Additionally, she suspected that all were daughters of William Bly of Prince George County.
  A possible sibling of these women is Thomas Bly, who obtained a patent for 295 acres in Prince George County in 1751.  In the patent, he was identified as the son and heir of William Bly, who had originally patented 100 of the 295 acres in 1724.
  This land is now located in Dinwiddie County, Virginia.

Between 1772 and 1777.  Susannah remarried.  Her husband was a Prewit. 

· According to TLC Genealogy’s Virginia in 1760:  A Reconstructed Census, the Prewit or Prewet males in Virginia circa 1760 were all in Halifax County and consisted of David, Henry, and Thomas.
  
· In circa 1760, Isham Pruit lived in Cumberland County, Virginia. 
  

· In circa 1760, Joseph Pruit lived in Amelia County, Virginia. 
  

· In 1772, there was an Isham Prewit in Charlotte County, Virginia.
  
· In 1782, two entries for Joseph Prewit show up on a 1782 tax list for Charlotte County.
  
· In 1785, there was an Isham Prewit Jr. in Charlotte County.


In 1777 or later.  Died. 


[image: image3.png]
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Thomas DODSON (I)
15 May 1681.  Born in Old Rappahanock County, Virginia, to Charles and Anne Dodson.

31 Jul. 1693.  Charles Dodson to son Thomas, one brown cow called Nancy in exchange for one sow shoat given him by his godfather Peter Elmore.  Recorded 31 July 1693 in Richmond County, Virginia. 

2 Feb. 1702.  Charles Dodson to son Thomas, 150 acres in Richmond County, Virginia, for love and affection towards son, being half of the piece of land purchased from Capt. Samuel Travis. 

2 Oct. 1706.  Thomas Dodson was summoned to serve on a Grand Jury but failed to do so.  He was fined.  The fine was remitted after he explained that he had been sick. 

3 Apr. 1707.  Action of Thomas Dodson against John Hill marrying executrix of Charles Dodson was dismissed, the plaintiff not continuing to prosecute. 

Before 5 Oct. 1715.  Married Mary Durham (this assumes that their first child was born after they married).

5 Oct. 1715.  Birth of daughter Mary. 

4 Apr. 1723.  Birth of son Abraham. 

10 Dec. 1723.  Thomas Durham of Richmond County, Virginia, to Thomas Dodson Sr., 100 acres formerly belonging to Abraham Marshall beginning at a Spanish oak corner tree of Charles Dodson, main branch of Totusky, for 5000 pounds of tobacco.  Witnesses were Jno. Hill, Wm. Walker, Jos. Grenham.  Deed was recorded 6 May 1724. 

25 May 1725.  Birth of son Joshua. 

22 Feb. 1727.  Birth of son Elisha. 

6 Dec. 1733.  Thomas Dodson Sr. and wife Mary, Thomas Dodson Jr. and wife Elizabeth, all of North Farnham Parish, Richmond County, Virginia, 130 acres, 100 acres formerly belonging to Abraham Marshall, to Jonathan Lyell for a male slave already delivered to Thomas Dodson Jr. and a female slave to be delivered as soon as one can be purchased.  Witnesses were Robt. Reynolds, George Gibson, Wm. Creel.  Mary and Elizabeth Dodson relinquished dower rights.  Recorded 1 Apr. 1734. 

17 Feb. 1739.  Wrote his last will and testament.  The heirs mentioned in the will were
· Wife Mary
· Son Thomas
· Son George
· Son Greenham
· Son Elisha
· Daughter Alice Creel
· Daughter Mary Oldam
· Son Abraham
· Son Joshua
· Unnamed granddaughter, child of David Dodson
The executors were wife Mary and son Greenham.  The witnesses were H. Miskell, John (X) Hightower, Charles Dodson. 

21 Nov. 1740.  Died in Richmond County, Virginia. 
 
2 Mar 1740/41. Last will and testament proved. 

169
Mary DURHAM

5 June 1686.  Born in Old Rappahanock County, Virginia. 


29 Sep. 1743.  Married Robert Galbrath in Richmond County, Virginia. 


3 Jul. 1744.  Suit in Chancery by Greenham Dodson, one of the executors of Thomas Dodson dec’d, on behalf of the heirs of same against Robt. Galbreath.  Galbreath given until next court to make his response. 

7 May 1745.  Case of Dodson Executors vs. Gilbreath.  The court ruled that Greenham Dodson should take over the estate of Thomas Dodson for the use of Mary Galbreath, as the will intended.  Robert Galbreath refused to give security.  He was assessed the costs of the case. 
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John ROSE
11 Apr. 1701.  John Rose and his wife Mary Blakeby witnessed and proved the will of Jane Wildey in Northumberland County, Virginia. 

19 Nov. 1701.  John Rose and his wife Mary (late Blackerby) witnessed the will of James Wildey in Northumberland County, Virginia. 

1702.  A John Ross, Newman's Neck, was made a constable in Northumberland County, Virginia. 

1702/3.  Jno. Rose bought 50 acres in Northumberland County, Virginia, from Jno. Scott.  Deed rerecorded on 16 Sep. 1713. 

6 Sep. 1713.  Jno Rose of Wicco parish bought 50 acres in Northumberland County, Virginia, from Hugh Campbell. 

? Sep. 1713(?).  John Rose of Weicomoco parish, Northumberland County, Virginia, weaver, and Hugh Campbell of the same sold 50 acres for 5000 pounds of tobacco.  Signed by John Rose and Mary (M) Rose and witnessed by Dennis Con___ay(?) ? Creal, Wm (X) Barber.  Acknowledged 18 Sep 1713 by John and Mary Rose.  Endorsed by Rose and Cambell.  John Rose posted bond for performance, which was signed by John Rose and witnessed by Dennis Conway(?), Jno (X) Creele, Wm (X) Barber,  acknowledged  and recorded. 

2 Jan. 1719.  John Hill of Farnum Parish in Richmond County, VA, sold John Rose of Northumberland County 20 acres in Farnum Parish for 1500 pounds of tobacco. The land was on the head of Marrattico Creek and adjacent to John Linkhorn, Anna Scurlock, and Thomas Scurlock (see Richmond County Deed Book 7, pp. 484-87). 

4 July 1726.  Terrence Smith, a servant of John Rose, was sentenced to serve an additional year of servitude after striking John, breaking his windows, and perpetrating “other Enomities.” (See Northumberland County, Virginia, Court Order Book, 1719-1729, p. 216.)

19 Sep. 1733.  Tomboy, a slave owned by John Rose, was adjudged to be eight years old. (See Northumberland County, Virginia, Court Order Book, 1729-1737, p. 114.)  

12 Mar. 1736.  John Rose of Wicomico, Northumberland County, Virginia, bought land partly in Northumberland County and partly in Richmond County, Virginia, for 4629 pounds of tobacco and 6 pounds current money of Virginia adjoining Robert Boyd, Charles Fallin, Capt. Richard Span, Winnifred Warrick, Graves Eves, Gilbert Croswell, James Blackerby, and Merryman Payne, and a branch issuing out of Merattico. 

12 Nov. 1742.  The last will and testament of John Rose (emphasis and paragraphing added):

In the Name of God Amen I John Rose of Weiomore? Parish County of Northumberland Being weak of age But of perfect mind & memory thanks Be to almight God for it, Calling to mind the? mortality of my Body, knowing that it is appointed for all men once to Die, Do make ordain this my last Will and testament, that is to say principally and first of all, I Recommend my Soul into the hands of allmight God that Gave it me and as for my Body I Recommend to ye Same again By the might power of God, and as for Suc Worldly Estate as it hath pleased almighty to Bless me with in this World I give as followeth
Imprimis I Give to James Blackerby my Wifes Son three Sheep 
Item I Give to Joseph Davis my Wifes Grandson Seven Sheep 
And as for the Rest of my personall Estatate Such as my land Negroes Stocks and all other tenements I Give to my two Daughters Viz Mary Stamps & Elizabeth Dodson and their heirs forever to be Equally Divided Between them two, and it is my Will that my land Shant Be Sold so long as the Wars? Continue
Item I Leave ye use of all my Estate to my Loving Wife Mary Rose During her Widowhood or Natural Life
Item I Constitute make appoint & ordain my loving Wife Mary Rose, Thomas Stamps, Thomas Dodson & Willm Thomas Senr to be my Sole Executors of this my Last Will and testament.  I do hereby ---? Disallow Revoke Disannul all and Every testament Wills & Legacies Bequests, Executors By me any Wayes Before this time named, Willd and Bequeathed Ratifying and Confirming this and no other to Be my last Will and testament In Witness Whereunto I Set my hand and Seal this 12th Day of November in the year of our Lord God 1742
Witness John Rose
William Stonum
Eleanor (her mark) Chapman
17 Oct. 1747.  The Northumberland County, Virginia, Record Book 1743-1749, p. 254, contains a deed of John Rose of Hamilton Parish, Prince William County.
 
After 17 Oct. 1747.  Died, possibly in Prince William County, VA.
171
Mary ???
Many claim that Mary’s maiden name was Wildy.  Patt Roach, the author of the three-volume We Boast of the Name of Blackerby, Blackaby, Blackorby, says that is “definitely NOT” true.

1694 or Before.  Married first James Blackerby I (based on the year of birth of first known child).
About 1694.  Birth of son James Blackerby II in Old Rappahanock County, Virginia. He married Frances Pullen in about 1714 in Richmond County, Virginia.

Between 12 Nov. 1742 and 17 Oct. 1747.  Died, possibly in Prince William County, Virginia (the first is the date of the will of John Rose, in which she is mentioned, and second is of a deed “without her signature”).
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Jeffrey JOHNSON (III)
20 Aug. 1725.  Jeoffrey Johnson was granted 492 acres in Stafford County, Virginia, on Dorrills Run, a branch of the Occaquon. 
  The Jeoffrey who obtained this grant may have been Jeffrey Johnson (II), rather than Jeffrey Johnson (III).
18 Nov. 1725.  Jeffry Johnson was granted 360 acres in Stafford County, Virginia, on the west side of Pignut Ridge on branches of the Broad Run adjacent to William Russell. 
  The Jeffry who obtained this grant may have been Jeffrey Johnson (II), rather than Jeffrey Johnson (III).
23 May 1746.  Gawin Corbin was granted 1798 acres in Prince William County, Virginia, about four miles from Rappahannock River adjoining lands of Mr. Hooper, Jeffry Johnson, and John Smith. 
  The land of Johnson’s adjacent to Corbin’s appears to be the land granted to Jeffrey Johnson (II) in 1712. 
, 

Before 13 Jan. 1759.  Died (based on his wife being remarried by then).
6 July 1772.  Hector Ross of Fairfax County, Virginia, sold James Bashaw 152 acres at Pignut Ridge adjacent to land of the late Jeffrey Johnson  (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Deed Book 5, pp. 225-228). 

173
Margaret ???
Before 13 Jan. 1759.  Margaret married Thomas Colson.
1759.  Margaret and Thomas Colson sued Jeffrey and Moses Johnson  (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Minute Book 1, p. 21). 

13 Jan. 1759. Thos. Colson and his wife Margaret of Frederick Parish, Frederick County, Virginia, relinquished all personal and real property from the estate of Jeffrey Johnson, with the exception of two feather beds and furniture, one large trunk, all of the pewter of the estate, one "Lin'n" wheel, and one grey horse, to Jeffrey Johnson and Moses Johnson of the Parish of Hamilton.  Margaret Coleson was the widow of Jeffrey Johnson and had the use of the personal and real property granted her for life by the provisions of his will.  In exchange, Jeffrey and Moses agreed to pay Thos. and Margaret Colson 100 gallons of cider and 10 gallons of brandy, if the orchards are fruitful, for the remainder of Margaret's life.  This agreement and bond was signed by Thomas Colson, Margaret (X) Colson, Jeffrey (X) Johnson, and Moses Johnson, and was witnessed by Laz's. Taylor and Simon Morgan.  It was recorded on 23 Aug. 1759 (see Fauquier County, Virginia, Deed Book 1, pp. 24-26). 
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George WALKER
24 Aug. 1731.  George Walker obtained a grant for 1506 acres of land in Prince William County, Virginia.  That land was on a branch of Popes Head Run called Piney Branch. 
  This land, at least in part, was in the area that was to become Fairfax County (see Fairfax County Deed Book L, pp. 143-150, which contains a deed transferring property on Piney Branch that was identified as being formerly owned by George Walker).  
21 June 1735.  Elizabeth Bailey of Cople Parish in Westmoreland County, Virginia, gave her son, William Baley, her dower rights in 50 acres of land, which abutted the land of George Walker.

27 Oct. 1735.  Elizabeth Bailey, widow of John Bailey, Jr., and William Bailey, Jr., her son, both of Cople Parish, Westmoreland County, Virginia, sold 50 acres of land to William Lane for 14 pounds current money of Virginia.  The land, on branches of the Nominy River, abutted that of George Walker. 
 
13 Dec. 1744.  The will of George Walker was dated 13 Dec. 1744 and was probated on 29 Jan. 1744/45 in Westmoreland County, Virginia. It mentioned the following individuals:
· Wife Winifred (to receive land in Westmoreland County, slave, money to buy second slave, black horse named Shaver, best feather bed and furniture, white horse named Brandy)
· Daughter Barbary (to receive still, mare and colt, one feather bed and furniture, slave, and quarter share of 1506 acres in Fairfax County)
· Daughter Winnian (to receive colt, slave, and quarter share of 1506 acres in Fairfax County)
· Daughter Rachel (to receive slave, black mare, feather bed and furniture, and quarter share of 1506 acres in Fairfax County)
· Daughter Franky (to receive slave and quarter share of 1506 acres in Fairfax County)
The executors of the will were Danl. Tebbs, John Middleton, and wife Winifred Walker. 

By 29 Jan. 1744/45.  Died.
175
Frances HARDWICK
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John RUDD
In 1737, John Rudd and John Rudd Jr. were both identified as “alias Thos,” which is assumed to mean “alias Thomas” (alternatively, it might mean “alias Thom[p]son”).  Alias means “also known as.”  John or one of his paternal ancestors originally had Thomas as their surname and changed it to Rudd for currently unknown reasons.  This was not uncommon.  For instance, Oliver Cromwell, the Lord Protector during the short-lived English republic, was “alias Williams.”  One of his paternal ancestors was a Williams who took the surname Cromwell, which had been borne by a prominent relative (an unmarried churchman) from his mother’s side of the family.
  
“Rudd alias Thos.” might indicate that John’s family was from Wales, originally, and that at the time when fixed surnames were demanded by Wales’s English overlords, an ancestor called ap Thomas (son of Thomas) took the surname Thomas and later someone in the family changed it to Rudd, but the old surname of Thomas continued to be remembered.  This is just conjecture, of course.  The following first footnote from the Wikipedia article, “Henry Williams (alias Cromwell),” explains this more fully with respect to the Cromwell family:

Noble 1787, pp. 11–13 [i.e., Rev. Mark Noble, Memoirs of the Protectoral-House of Cromwell, Vol. I, Third Edition, London, Printed for G.G.J. and J. Robinson, 1787] explains … the reason for Sir Richard Williams, the great grandfather of Oliver Cromwell, changing his name, from Williams to Cromwell. Henry VIII strongly recommended it to the Welsh (whom he incorporated with the English) to adopt the English practice in taking family names, instead of their manner of adding their father's, and perhaps grandfather's name to their own Christian one with nap or ap, as Morgan ap William, or Rich, ap Morgan ap William; i. e. Rich, the son of Morgan the son of Will, and the king was the more anxious as it was found so inconvenient in identifying persons in judicial matters. For these reasons, the Welsh, about this time, dropped the ap in many of their names; or, if it could be done with convenience as to pronunciation, left out the a, and joined the p to their father's Christian name (Camden's remains; from which it appears that many Christian names were appropriated to families; for the reasons above "we have the Williams's, Lewis's, Morgans, &c. &c. without number, and, by joining the p, the Pritchards, Powels, Parrys, i. e. ap Richard, ap Howell, ap Harry, &c. &c.). Thus Mr. Morgan ap William, Sir Richard's father, seems, from the pedigree, to have taken the family name of Williams; but, as the surname of Williams was of so late standing, his majesty recommended it to Sir Richard, to use that of Cromwell, in honour of his uncle Thomas Cromwell, 1st Earl of Essex, whose present greatness entirely obliterated his former meanness (Various lives of Oliver, lord protector, &c. as also miss Cromwell's pedigree); and it is observable, that Sir Richard's brothers also changed their name to Cromwell (Will of Sir Richard Williams, alias Cromwell, prerogative-office, London, Allan 20. Pedigree of the Williams's, alias Cromwells, Harl. M.S.S. vol. 1174, and Harl. M.S.S. vol. 4135). Thus did the Williams's take, or super-add the surname of Cromwell to that of Williams; and, in almost all their deeds and wills, they constantly wrote themselves Williams, alias Cromwell, down to the seventeenth century. …
Also according to Wikipedia, “Rudd is a surname of English origin, derived from the fish of the same name.”

John might be John Rudd, webster, who was booked to come to Virginia from Liverpool on 24 Oct 1698 aboard the “St. John Baptest,” Nicholaus Franch, master, as a servant for 4 years.
  On the same ship was Abraham Rudd of Rochdale, Lancashire, clothier.
  Also, John might be John Rud, the son of John Rud, baptized in Didsbury, Lancashire, England, on 11 Nov. 1676.  Rud(d)(e) parents were having their children baptized at the Didsbury village church from at least the 1570s into the 1750s. 

1678.  Born in England.

24 Oct. 1701.  “John Rudd” was listed among the 87 transported to America for which 4342 acres in Charles City County, Virginia, on both sides of the Nottoway River and including the islands in the river were granted to Capt. Wm. Hunt. 

1703-1706.  Married Avis Whitaker (assumes arrival circa 1699, four to seven years as an indentured servant after arrival, and marriage after indenture ended).
20 Oct 1704.  John Rud, along with others including Stephen Gill, is among those claimed as headrights by Charles Cozens for a land grant in Henrico County, Virginia.

2 July 1715.  Thomas Jones, Princess Amelia County sold Samuel Hancock, Sr., Henrico County, 400 acres formerly taken up by Richard Grills, and owned previously by Daniel Jones, decd., father of Thomas, for 40 pounds.  The land was bounded by Wintopock Creek and John Rod.  The deed was witnessed by Joseph Ligon, John Redford, Jr., and Robert Bowman, and was recorded on 3 May 1736.  Sarah, wife of Thomas, relinquished her dower rights.  (See Henrico County Wills and Deeds, 1725-1737, p. 543.) 

16 Aug 1715.  John Red, along with others including Stephen Gill, is among those claimed as headrights by John Woodson for a land grant in Henrico County, Virginia.

17 Aug 1725.  John Red and Avis Red were claimed as headrights by John Pride for a land grant in Henrico County, Virginia.

17 May 1726.  John Red obtained patent in Henrico County, Virginia, for 400 acres on the north side of the “Appamattock River” and adjoining John Hatcher.

2 Aug. 1731.  John Rud and Avice, his wife, both of Henrico County, sold Rebeckah Frith, wife of John Frith, of Henrico County, 200 acres on the north side of Middle Sapponi Creek, near John Rud, Jr., for 5 shillings.  Witnesses were Jas. Powell Cocke and Richard Wood.  The deed was recorded on 1st Monday in August 1731. (See Henrico County Wills and Deeds, 1725-1737, p. 312.) 
  This was half of the 400-acre patent that John received in 1726.
5 Aug 1731. Richard Grills of Henrico County to John Redd of same for 50 shillings, 60 acres, bounded by Thomas Cheatham, Robert Mosely, John Baugh, and said John Redd. Witnesses: John Darby, Edw’d Pain, John Russell Jr.

21 Aug 1731. Richard Grills to John Reade for 8 pounds, 100 acres near Wintopock on north side of Thomas Jones’s line. Witnesses: Allison Clerke, Thos. Jones, Richard Jones. 

25 Nov 1731.  Richard Grills to John Redd for 40 pounds, 250 acres bounded by north fork of Spring Run and Thomas Chatham. Witnesses: John Darby, Edw’d Pain. 

4 Dec 1731. Richard Grills of Henrico County to John Reed of same for 8 pounds, 100 acres near Wintopock, next to Thomas Jones. Witnesses: John Darby, Mary Darby, Thomas Wadkins.

2 Apr 1733.  Thomas Jones of Henrico County and Parish to John Reade of same for 15 pounds, 100 acres on south side of James River; part of 500 acres that Daniel Jones, father of said Thomas, purchased of Richard Grills, adjoining plantation where said Reade now lives. Witnesses: John Hancock, William Farguson.

13 Dec. 1733.  James Akin of Henrico Parish and County, sold Richard Jones, planter of Essex County, 150 acres on the south side of Spring Run bounded by Thomas Cheatham, Sr., Robert Moseley, John Rudd, and John Farguson.  The land was part of a larger tract taken up by Richard Grills, was formerly owned by Arthur Moseley (the elder), who sold the land to James Akin, and was where John Story formerly lived. 
 (See Henrico County Wills and Deeds, 1725-1737, p. 428.) 
3 Oct 1735.  Martha Good of Dale Parish, Henrico County, to John Reed of same for 35 pounds, 300 acres; part of a larger tract called “Middle Creek” which lately belonged to my late husband Samuel Good, dec’d, and ordered sold by his will. Land is bounded by Appomattox River and Richard Womack. Witnesses: John James Flournoy, Robt. Lorton, Phillip Prescot.

1736.  John Rudd, 3 Levys [51 lbs. of tobacco each], 310 acres, fees, to quit-rents on 800 acres not on rent rolls, paid by cash to J. Gibson and by the Inspector at Warwick (Taxes, etc., paid to John Nash, Sheriff, Henrico County). 
  The acreage mentioned is the grant of 400 acres in 1726 minus the 200 acres sold to his daughter in 1731 plus 510 acres purchased from Richard Grills in 1731 plus 100 acres purchased from Thomas Jones in 1733 plus 300 acres purchased from Martha Good in 1735 (400 - 200 + 510 + 100 + 300 = 1110 acres)
1736.  Jos. Rudd, 1 Levy, paid by Inspector at Warwick (Taxes, etc., paid to John Nash, Sheriff, Henrico County). 
 
1736.  Jno Rudd, 20 [likely lbs. tobacco] ("1736.  A List of Mr. Secret'ys Fees for Jno Nash to collect. (Viz)") (Taxes, etc., paid to John Nash, Sheriff, Henrico County). 

Feb. 1736/37.  "To Jno Rudd Senr alias Thos  170" [lb. tobacco]
"To Jno Rudd junr alias Thos  51" [lb. tobacco]
("Messrs Redford and Wilkinson, Inspectors at Warwick., Debit. 1736[/37]. Febry")
(Taxes, etc., paid to John Nash, Sheriff, Henrico County).
 
22 Sep. 1739.  Benjamin Branch received a land grant in Henrico County, Virginia, for 623 acres on the north side of the Appamattox River adjoining the land of John Rud and crossing several branches of upper Sapony Creek.

20 August 1741.  John Rud received a patent in Henrico County, Virginia, for 312 acres adjoining the land of Thomas Chetham, his own land, Ellison Clark, and John Ferguson.

John Rud[d] Jr., James Rud[d], and Joseph Redd [Rudd], all acquired patents near the 1726 patent of John Rudd Sr.  Those of John Jr. and Joseph abut the patent of John Sr., while the patent of James abuts the patent of John Jr.  Daughter Rebecca Frith and her husband owned half the 1726 patent after 1731.

8 Aug. 1744.  The last will and testament of John Rud of Henrico Parish, Chesterfield County, Virginia, was as follows (emphasis added): 

In the name of God amen I John Rud of the Parish and County of Henrico being sick and weak but of perfect mind and memory thanks be given unto God and knowing that it is appointed for all men once to die do make and ordain this my last will and Testament. Principally and first of all I recommend my soul unto the hands of God that gave it and as for my body I commend it to the Earth to be Buried in a Christian like and decent manner according the discretion of my Executor and as for such worldly life I give dispose and bequeath in the following manner and form.

Item I give and bequeath unto my loving son John Rud, Jun. a Negro Man named York after the decease of my wife Avis or her widowhood


Item I give and bequeath unto my loving son William Rud a Negro garl named Judey after the decease of my wife Avis or her widowhood


If William Rud never returns here then my grandson William Rud the son of Joseph to have the Negro garl


Item I give and bequeath unto my loving son Thomas Rud a Negro Man named Peter after the decease of my wife Avis or her widowhood


Item I give and bequeath unto my loving son Joseph Rud a Negro man named Robin after the decease of my wife Avis or her widowhood


Item I give and bequeath unto my loving son James Rud a Negro man named Dick after the decease of my wife Avis or her widowhood


Item I also give and bequeath unto my loving son William Rud a feather bed that I bought last(?) and furniture belonging to it.  If William never returns here then my grandson William Rud the son of Joseph to have the bed and furniture


Item I give and bequeath unto my son Thomas Rud the one half of my land I now have on Spring Run being the upper half and to my son William Rud the lower half the half that I now live on after the decease of my wife Avis or her widowhood.


If William Rud never returns here then my grandson William Rud the son of Joseph to have the land.


Item I give and bequeath unto my daughter Rebeccah Frith one shilling sterling

Item I give and bequeath unto my beloved wife Avis the use of all my houses and the use of the Plantation and all my Negroes during her life or widowhood and to work all my slaves in this Plantation during her single life and to have the third of movables as the law allows to the judgment of three men after my decease


Item my will further is that there be no appraisement of my estate by order of court but that the movables may be divided by the witnesses of my will.  I also appoint my loving sons Thomas and Joseph my whole and sole executors to this my last will and Testament hereby revoking all other wills heretofore made in writing whereof I have hereunto set my hand and seal this eighteenth day of August anno Dom 1749. John Farguson and Moses Farguson were witnesses.

1749.  John Rudd Sr. died in Chesterfield County, Virginia.
  
8 May 1760.  The following agreement distributing the slaves of John Rudd was signed.  Following the agreement, is the way that it was implemented. 

Know all men by these presents that We Thomas Rudd, Joseph Rudd, James Rudd, John Rudd, Daniel Brown, Alexander Brown, and William Rudd are held & stand firmly bound unto each other and to their Heirs in the sum of two hundred pounds Currt. money to be paid unto each other & to their several Heirs Exors & administrators to the which payment We and each of us our and each of our Heirs Exors & Admons do bind ourselves Jointly severally & firmly by these presents presents sealed with our Seals & dated this eighth day of May 1760 -

The Condition of the above obligation is such that whereas John Rudd late father of the above named Thomas Rudd & died possessed of several slaves and each of the parties above mentioned claim a part of the said slaves and each of them have agreed to refer the division thereof to Seth Ward & Arch. Cary and to abide their award Now if the said Thomas Rudd, Joseph Rudd, James Rudd, John Rudd, Daniel Brown, Alexr. Brown & the said Thomas Rudd on behalf of the said William Rudd do and shall abide the Judgment and award of the said Seth Ward and Arch. Cary in all things as they shall think fit to direct he same relating to the Division of the said Slaves then this obligation to be void otherwise to remain in full force & virtue 

Sealed and Delivered }
Thomas Rudd {seal}

In presence of
Joseph (his R mark) Rud {seal}

Test
James (his + mark) Rud {seal}

Prichard  ?
John Rud {seal}


Daniel (his D mark) Brown {seal}


Alex (his + mark) Brown {seal}

A Division of the slaves of John Rudd decd. among his children made at their Desire by Seth Ward & Arch. Cary as follows:

Dr. Thomas Rudd in account with the estate of Jno. Rudd decd. 


Cr.

To a Negro Jane allotted him value 
40.0.0 
By his share of the sd.Est. 
46.8.6 

To Alex. Brown 






6.8.6 









£46.8.6


Dr. John Rudd in Account etc. 





Cr.

To a Negro Simion allotted him value 
40.0.0 
By his share of the sd. Est. 
46.8.6

To Alex Brown 


6.8.6 




£46.8.6


Dr. Daniel Brown & his wife in Acct. etc. 




Cr.

To a Negro little Jane allotted her value 
30.0.0 
By his share of the sd. Est. 
46.8.6

To Wm Rudd


16.8.6 




£46.8.6


Dr. James Rudd in Account etc.





Cr.

To a Negro Bobb allotted him value
20.0.0 
By his share of the sd. Est. 
46.8.6

To Alex Brown
 

10.14.6

To Wm Rudd 


2.3.0

To Jos. Rudd


13.11.0 





£46.8.6


Dr. Alexr. Brown [in Ac]ct etc. 





Cr.

To a Negro York [allotte]d you

70.0.0
By a share of the sd. Est. 
46.8.6






By Cash to Tho. Rudd
6.8.6






By do. To Jno. Rudd

6.8.6






By do. To Jas. Rudd

10.14.6









£70.0.0

Dr. William Rud[d] [in A]ccount etc. 




Cr.

To a Negro Abram [allott]ed him 
65.0.0 
By his share of the sd. Est. 
46.8.6





By Cash to Danl. Brown
16.8.6






By do. to James Rudd

2.3.0









65.0.0


Dr. Joseph Ru[dd in] Acct. etc. 





Cr.

To a Negro Sam a[llotted] you 

60.0.0





By your share of the sd. Est. 
46.8.6





By Cash to James Rudd
13.11.0








£59.19.6

1771.  Hannah Rudd, etc. v. John Rudd, etc., Chesterfield County chancery case.  This was a squabble over the slaves (and their children) that John Rudd Sr. in his last will and testament granted his wife Avis for her lifetime or widowhood.  The case file is incomplete. 
  This is the suit of 6 July 1771 brought by Hannah Rudd, Thomas Cheatham, Jr., and Hannah, his wife, and William Cashon and Avis Whittaker, his wife, against John Rudd [III], Joseph Rudd, Thomas Rudd, James Rudd, Alexander Brown, and Daniel Brown.

Circa 1794.  Hannah Rudd, widow, etc. v. John Rudd, etc., a Chesterfield County chancery case where the heirs continued their squabble over the slaves, and their descendants, of John Rudd Sr.
  This case seems to have been precipitated by the death of Thomas Rudd, a defendant in the 1771 chancery case.  
The following four depositions appear to have been taken for this case.  From their tenor, there seems to have been some effort to prove that John Rudd Jr., was not a son of John Rudd Sr., the husband of Avis Whittaker.
Undated (circa 1788/1794).  William Williamson was deposed.  His statement was as follows (emphasis added): 

William Williamson aged seventy seven years on testimony being sworn saith that he lived many years a neighbor to John Rudd father of the Plaintiff and also a neighbor John Rudd, Dec’d, Grandfather to the Plaintiff. That he often heard the said John Rudd the father to the plaintiff was born within seven months after the intermarriage that the depondant until a short time past never heard the said John Rudd the father of the plaintiff called a Bastard but always indicated that he was born in wedlock. The depondant being interrogated further saith not. 

No witnesses were identified for the preceding deposition.

22 Dec 1788.  Mary Rudd was deposed.  Her statement was as follows (emphasis added): 

The deposition of Mary Rudd of lawful age . . . being sworn on the holy Evangelist of Almighty High god deposath and saith on that Avis Rudd the wife of John Rudd dec’d and Grandmother to the plaintiff John Rudd happened at the house of James Rudd, as well as this depondant can recollect about thirty years ago and in conversation with this depondant say’d that her daughter Rebeckah and her son John were both born before her marriage with the afore mentioned John Rudd dec’d and further this depondant saith not. 
The witnesses for the preceding deposition were David Patterson and Creed Haskins.
10 Jul 1789.  Aaron Farguson was deposed.  His statement was as follows (emphasis added): 

Aaron Farguson being sworn saith that he has often heard his parents say that John Rudd dec’d and Avis Rudd, Grandfather and grandmother to the PLF were servants and after their servantude expired they intermarried saith about their intermarriage the said Avis had a child who afterwards intermarried with a certain John Frith had never understood that John Rudd father to the PLF was born before their intermarriage nor never heard him called a Bastard and further saith not. 
The witnesses for the preceding deposition were Geo Chastain and Creed Haskins. 

10 Dec 1789. Charles Burton was deposed.  His statement was as follows (emphasis added): 

Charles Burton of lawfull age being first sworn deposeth saith that he well knew John Rudd Dft [Decd?], . . . a Servant, and also a woman whose name as well as he could recollect was Avis Whitaker a Servant to Peter Roulett and that the said Avis had a Daughter named Rebekkah and son named John before her . . . intermarriage with the above mentioned John and that as well as he the said Charles recollection the son of the said Avis was about two years old at the time of the Intermarriage aforesaid. After marriage the said John Rudd the elder, could not suffer the son of the aforesaid Avis to live in his family denying him as his child at all times during his acquaintance in the family. Which the said loss covering the last ten years, that the Son of the said Avis was at the home of his acquaintance called and known by the name of John Migalay. Further saith not. 
The witnesses for the preceding deposition were George Woodson and David Patterson.
209
Avis WHITAKER
1680.  Born in England.

24 Oct. 1701.  “Avis Whiteker” was listed among the 20 transported to America for which 1000 acres in Charles City County, Virginia, on the south side of Worwick swamp and the north side of Joseph swamp were granted to Francis, William, and Littlebury Epps.

17 Aug 1725.  Avis Red and John Red were claimed as headrights by John Pride for a land grant in Henrico County, Virginia.

21 Sep. 1759.   The last will and testament of Avis Rudd of Chesterfield County, Virginia, read as follows (emphasis added): 

In the Name of God Amen 
I Avis Rudd of Chesterfield County calling to mind the frailty of this life do ordain this to be my last will and Testament in manner and form following and first I give my soul to God that gave it me in hopes of acceptance thereof through the merits of Jesus Christ my Savior and my Body to the Earth from whence it was to be buried by the discretion of my executors.

Item I give to my granson Thomas Frith 5 pounds likewise I give to my granson Frederick Rudd 5 pound likewise I give to my granson William Rudd the son [of] Thomas Rudd five pounds likewise I give to my granson Daniel Brown five pounds likewise I give to my son Thomas Rudd all the thirds of my estate Hogs, cattle, and horses. I desire that there shall be no appraisement upon the estate. I nominate and appoint my son Thomas Rudd my whole and sole executor of this my last will revoking and disanulling all wills heretofore by made in witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and affix my seal this 21 day of September 1759. 

The witnesses to the last will and testament were Richard Covington and John Baugh. 
Between 21 Sep. 1759 and 2 May 1760.  Died.
2 May 1760.   The last will and testament of Avis Rudd presented by Thomas Rudd, Executor, and proved by Richard Covington and John Baugh.

10 July 1789. Aaron Farguson deposed in Chesterfield County, Virginia, that he had “often heard his parents say” that John Rudd and Avis Rudd, grandparents of John Rudd, were servants and after their indenture ended they married. 

10 Dec 1789. Charles Burton deposed in Chesterfield County, Virginia, said that John Rudd had been an indentured servant and that Avis Whitaker (as best he could recollect) was an indentured servant of Peter Roulett. 
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James LEA
Eunice’s ancestor, James Lea, lived in Caswell County, North Carolina, before that in Orange County, North Carolina (no move was needed for this change), before that in Spotsylvania County, Virginia, and before that in King & Queen County, Virginia.
In his thorough study of the Leas of Virginia and North Carolina, Ben L. Rose had the following to say about James of Spotsylvania County, Virginia: 

There were two James Leas in Spotsylvania Co VA between 1739 and 1752/3:  the James Lea who was described in 1731 as "orphan of John Lea dec'd", and the James Lea who was described in 1739 as "planter of King & Queen Co."
In 1739 James Lea, the orphan, could not have been more than 21 years of age nor have owned more than 100 acres of land.  He would hardly, therefore, have been styled "Planter".  Nor would one so young as he have been appointed by the vestry of the Mattapony Church to undertake the responsible task of processioning the land.
These two James Leas lived in different parts of Spotsylvania Co ….  James Lea, the orphan, lived in the western part of the county near the Upper or second Pamunkey Chapel while James Lea, the planter, lived in the south-eastern quadrant of the county near the Mattapony Church.  James Lea, the orphan, was still in Virginia two years after James Lea, the planter, had settled on Country Line creek in Orange Co NC.
James Lea, the orphan, was brother of William Lea.
…
James Lea, the planter, was named overseer of the road which ran past the Mattapony Church.  He was also appointed to procession the lands in the vicinity of the Ta River.
James Lea, the orphan, witnessed the deed for the land for the new chapel on East North East, i.e., Upper Pamunkey Chapel.  
Foremost Run, in the extreme western end of the county, was the boundary of the section of the road for which Thomas Crathers, step-father of James the orphan, was overseer, so the family must have lived nearby.
Eunice’s ancestor is James Lea the planter.  Ben Rose said this about him:
... James Lea, Planter, of King & Queen Co and of Spotsylvania Co.  This James Lea was described in a deed as "James Lea, planter, of St. Stephens Parish, King & Queen Co" in 1739 when he bought 200 acres of land in Spotsylvania Co from Joseph Brock for 21 pounds.  He sold the same 200 acres in 1753 for 80 pounds (a pretty good profit!).  When he sold the 200 acres in 1753, the deed was signed by James Lea and Ann, his wife.  This James Lea lived in the south-eastern quadrant of Spotsylvania Co in the vicinity of the Mattapony Church.  On Oct 3 1743 the vestry of St. George's Parish appointed this James Lea, along with Thomas Dillard, John Crain and Robert Coleman, to "procession all the lands from the county line up so high between the ridge of Mattapony and Pamunkey and the river Ta as to include the lands of the late Joseph Brock".  In 1745, along with John Graves, he witnessed a deed for the sale of land by John Pain to John Talburt, and in 1748 he was overseer of the road "from Mattapony church to Col. John Waller's Bridge."  The Mattapony Church, mother church of the parish, was built on lands of Larkin Chew and William Brock between the Ta and the Po rivers.  This James Lea sold his land in Spotsylvania Co VA in Mar 1753 after which date I find no records of him in that county.  About this time he moved to Orange Co North Carolina and, I believe, settled on Country Line Creek (see Item 7 for a further development of this theory). 

… James Lea of Country Line Creek.  This was the first James Lea to settle in this section of North Carolina.  We can identify him when, on Mar 3rd, 1752, he entered a claim for 520 acres of land "on both sides of Country Line Creek (The grant was not issued until Nov 12, 1758, which was not unusual).  In Sep 1752 the court of Orange Co NC bound Edw. Ball, an orphan of 16 years, to James Lea, indicating that he was a respected citizen of the community by then.  In 1754 Robert Harper assigned to him right and title in 600 more acres "on both sides of Country Line Creek".  In 1755 he is the only James Lea to appear on the Tax List of Orange Co.  When John Graves was granted 396 acres in 1762, the tract he received was described as "on Country Line Creek adjacent to the lines of James Lea and Dobbins".  This James Lea's will was proved in Caswell Co court in Mar 1792.  In his will, which was written in 1771, he mentioned his wife, Anne, and his sons:  William, John, and Major.  He left to his son, Major, "the land and plantation whereon I now live".  The will was proved in court on a deposition by Capt. William Lea in which he declared that he saw the testator sign the will and that the will had been in his possession since then.  John Lea and Major Lea, James' sons qualified as executors.  In Apr 1796 the court admitted to record an accounting of James Lea's estate, in which his heirs are shown as:  Luke Lea, Joseph Henderson, Will Lea, Joseph Patterson, Isabella Graves, John Lea, Major Lea and Paul Haralson.  We learn from other sources that Joseph Henderson had marred James Lea's daughter Delphia, that Joseph Paterson had married daughter Lucinda, that Isabella Graves was his daughter who married John Graves, and Paul Haralson had married his daughter Nancy. (Ref:  Graves, Twelve Generations, by Louise Graves, Addendum No. 1, p. 6)

1 May 1 1739.  Joseph Brock of St. George Parish, Spotsylvania County, Virginia, Gent., and Mary his wife, to James Lee of St. Stephen's Parish, King and Queen Co., planter, for £21 1s 2d curr., sold 200 acres in Spotsylvania County, witness: Edmund Waller, recorded  1 May 1739. (See Deed Book C, 1734-1742.)

1742.  Son Major was born in Spotsylvania, County, Virginia.

3 Oct. 1743.  At a vestry Held for St. George Parish at Fredericksburg the 3d day of October 1743 ... Ordered That Thomas Dillard, John Crain, Robert Coleman and James Lea or any two of them procession all the Lands from the County Line up so high between the Ridge of Mattapony and Pamunky and the River Ta as to Include the Lands late of Mr. Joseph Brock and that they make return thereof by the Last day of March next Ensuing.

6 Aug. 1745.  John x Pain and Frances his wife of St. George Parish, Spotsylvania County, Virginia, to John Talburt of same co. and parish for £26 5s curr., sold 100 acres, a part of a tract devised Wm Samms by his father, in parish and county afsd., witnesses were Jos. Brock, James Lea, John Graves, recorded 6 Aug. 1745. (See Deed Book D, 1742-1751.)

3 May 1748.  Ordered that James Lea take over from Henry Carter as overseer of the road from Mattapony Church to Colo. Waller’s bridge and that all tithables who served under Carter are ordered to serve under Lea to help him clear and keep the road in repair (Spotsylvania, County, Virginia).

2 Oct. 1750.  Ordered that John Coleman take over from James Lea as overseer of the road from Mattapony Church to Colo. Waller’s bridge and that all tithables who served under James Lea are ordered to serve under John Coleman to help him clear and keep the road in repair (Spotsylvania, County, Virginia).

3 Mar. 1752.  James Lea entered (applied for) a grant from the Granville Proprietary Land Office for 600 acres in Orange County, North Carolina, on Country Line Creek.
  

5 March 1753.  James Lea of St. George Parish, Spotsylvania County, Virginia, and Ann his wife to John Chapman of afsd. Parish and county, for £80 curr., sold 200 acres in Spotsylvania County, Virginia, no witnesses, recorded 6 March 1753. (See Deed Book E, 1751-1761.)

12 Nov. 1756.  James Lea received a grant from the Granville Proprietary Land Office of 520 acres in Orange County, North Carolina, Parish of St. Matthew, on both sides of Country Line Creek, adjoining William Willson and both sides of the Bents of Country Line Creek.  James Lea signed the deed and the witnesses were W. Churton and William Willey(?).  The land had been surveyed on 27 July 1754.  The sworn chain carriers were Wm. Lea and Joseph Patterson, and the surveyor was W. Churton.  (See Granville Deed Book 14, p. 449.) 
   

6 Mar. 1762.  John Graves received a grant from the Granville Proprietary Land Office of 394 acres in Orange County, North Carolina, on both sides of Country Line Creek, adjoining James Lea, Graves corner, Dobbins line, and both sides of the Bent of Country Line Creek.  Jon Graves signed the deed and the witnesses were Jas. Watson and Math. Brown.  The land was surveyed on 18 Jan. 1762.  The sworn chain carriers were Andrew Caddle and Major Lea, and the surveyor was W. Churton.  (See Granville Deed Book 14, p. 403.) 
   

28 Mar. 1771.  James Lea (of Orange County) dated his last will and testament.  The last will and testament made his sons William, Major, and John the last will and testament’s executors.  It identified his wife Ann.  It mentioned his children without identifying them by name.  The last will and testament’s witnesses were Thos. Camp Junr. and Henry Lea.  The will was proved in March 1792 by the testimony of Capt. William Lea of South Hico, which was made in Person County, North Carolina.  He deposed that he saw the witnesses and testator sign the last will and testament on 28 Mar. 1771 and that the last will and testament had been in his possession ever since.
   
30 Mar. 1792.   Inventory of the estate of James Lea (emphasis added):

The Invatary of James Leas Estate Decd. 

3 Negors pheby & Flury & Bob 6 Head of Horses 6 Head of Cattle 19 Head of hogs 1 Bead & Beadstead 1 Trunk & Chist 3 pots & potrack 1 pothook 1 Tea Cittle Hackle 1 skillett 1 Cuppers ax 1 Table 1 Frying pan 1 Cup 1 ? of Stilles 1 Croscut saw 1 Dutch orger 1 Bill 1 Congshall 1 Saw & 6 shsats[sic]

March 30th 1792



Major Lea }  Execs






John Lea }

2 Apr. 1796.   Sales of personal property from the estate of James Lea on 17 July 1792 grossed 240 pounds 7 shillings 3 pence.  The debts of the estate totaled 187 pounds 10 shillings.

221
Ann ???

Ann’s surname is traditionally identified as Herndon.  There is no solid evidence for the surname.
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Samuel COLEMAN
About 1706.  Samuel was born in Petsworth Parish, Gloucester County, Virginia. 

3 Feb. 1728/29.  George Nettles, about 14, son of Mary Nettles was bound by Petsworth Parish of Gloucester County to Mr. Samuel Coleman until George attained lawful age.  George was promised food, clothing, shelter, “washing,” three years of schooling or other training that would enable him to be able to read the Bible “perfectly,” and training that would lead to gainful employment when his indenture ended. 

17 June 1731.  Thomas Christian, Goochland County, sold 175 acres with houses, etc., bounded by Beverdam Creek, with houses, to Samuel Coleman for 25 pounds.  Witness to the deed were Robert Christian, John Cox, and Johh Coleman.  The transaction was recorded on 20 July 1731.  Rebecca, Thomas Christian's wife, relinquished her dower rights. (See Goochland County Deed Book 1, p. 263.)

1732.  Son James was born in Goochland County, Virginia. 

15 Aug. 1732.  Thomas Christian gave James Christian, his son, the plantation on which he (Thomas) lived after his death and the death of his wife.  The land consisted of 210 acres bounded by Nebuchanezzer Addams and Samuel Coleman. The deed of gift was recorded on 15 Aug. 1732. (See Goochland County Deed Book 1, p. 342.) 
 
By 1734.  Son Samuel was born in St. James Northam Parish, Goochland County, Virginia. 

19 May 1735.  Edward Scott and Stephen Hughes, Goochland County, together, sold Nicholas Cox, Goochland County, 1333 acres on south side of James River, bounded by Maple Swamp, a branch of Muddy Creek, James Roberts, and WIlliam Mayo, for 10,000 lbs. of tobacco.  The witnesses were Allen Howard, Robert Christian, and Sam'll Coleman.  The deed was recorded on 18 June 1735.  (See Goochland County Deed Book 2, p. 100.) 

17 Feb. 1735/36.  William Mills, St. James Parish, Goochland County, sold William Chambers, Goochland County, 20 acres on Wild Boar Creek, which was part of a purchase by Mills from Henry Chiles, for 4 pounds.  The deed was witnessed by Samuel Coleman and John Clark.  The deed was recorded on 17 Feb. 1735/36.  Mary, William's wife, relinquished her dower rights.  (See Goochland County Deed Book 2, p. 168.) 
 
6 June 1736.  William Mills, St. James Parish, Goochland County, sold James Walker, Goochland County, 300 acres on branches of Licking Hole Creek bounded by Samuel Coleman, Chile's corner, Scott's line, Kerby's line, and Henry Chiles, for 15 pounds, 5 shillings.  The deed was recorded on 15 June 1736.  Mary, William's wife, relinquished her dower rights.   (See Goochland County Deed Book 2, p. 231.) 
 
17??.  Samuel Coleman bought 67 acres on the south side of Beaver Dam Creek and adjoin his own land from Jacob Oglesby and wife Constant of St. James parish.  (See Goochland County Deed Book 3, p. 554). 

12 May 1746.  Samuel and Daniel Coleman witnessed a deed from John Woodson to James Mundette.  (See Goochland County Deed Book 5, p. 117). 

10 Jun 1746.  Samuel Coleman is on a Goochland County tithable list with son James and slaves Peter, Phillis, and Nancy.   

Before 1 April 1748. Sons John and Daniel Coleman were born, probably in Goochland County, Virginia.
1 April 1748.  The will of Samuel Coleman, filed in Goochland County, Virginia (see Deed and Will Book 5, p. 481), read as follows (emphasis added):

In the name of God Amen. I, Samuel Coleman, being very sick and weak in Body but of perfect sound mind and memory, do make and ordain this my last will and Testament in Manner and Form following. First, I bequeath my Soul to God and my Body to the earth to be decently buried according to the discretion of my Executors hereinafter named. 
Item: I give to my dear and loving wife, one young cow, I likewise lend unto my beloved wife Ann Coleman my whole estate during her life or widowhood, and after her death or marriage to be divided as followeth: 
Item: I give to my two sons Jas. Coleman and Saml. Coleman the plantation whereon I now dwell to be equally divided in quantty between them. 
Item: I give to my other two sons Jno. Coleman and Danl. Coleman my set of Black Smiths Tools & after my debts and funeral charges are paid and defrayed then the residue of my estate both real and personal to be equally divided amongst all my children. 
I constitute and appoint my beloved wife Ann Coleman and Jacob Oglesby my Executors of this my last will and testament revoking all other wills heretofore made as witness my hand and seal this first day of April in the year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred and forty eight. . 
Test: Rob. L. Woodson 
Jno. Wright 




Samuel Coleman [Seal] 
John X Pryor 
At a Court held for Goochland County Septem. 20, 1748. This will was proved by the oaths of Robt. L. Woodson, Jno. Wright and Jno. Pryor and witnesses hereto to be the last will and testament of the said Samuel Coleman deceased which was thereupon admitted to record. 
Between 1 April and 20 Sep. 1748.  Died.
20 Sep. 1748.  Last will and testament was proved in Goochland County, Virginia (see Deed and Will Book 5, p. 481).
237
Ann Mourning CHRISTIAN
1755.  Ann Coleman is on a Goochland County tithable list with slaves Peter, Tom, Ben, and Phillis. 

9 June 1756.  Ann, James, and Samuel Coleman signed a deed of trust to pay a debt.  The deed was for 248 acres on Beaverdam Creek, the plantation upon which Ann lived, slaves, and livestock.  The deed was signed by James Coleman and Ann Mourning Coleman. 

1758.  According to the St. James Northam Vestry Book, Ann Mourning Coleman was reimbursed for “’keeping Rachel Gavin.’” 

1759-1764.  According to the St. James Northam Vestry Book, Ann Mourning Coleman was reimbursed for “’keeping Mrs. Gavin.’” 

1761.  According to the St. James Northam Vestry Book, Ann Mourning Coleman was reimbursed for “’keeping David Clark(e)’” for five months.
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Walter LEAKE
Walter lived at “Rocky Springs,” the Leake home in Goochland County, Virginia.  He was a Vestryman of St. James Parish, Church of England.

1704.  Born. 

31 Oct. 1757.  The last will and testament of Walter Leak (see Goochland County Will Book 7, p. 279): 

In the Name of God Amen.  I Walter Leak, of Goochland County, make this my last will and testament, (being very sick) Revoking all other wills by Me formerly made.  And Appoint this my last, Acknowledging myself in my proper senses, I praise God for the Same.
First:  Desire my Body be buried according to the Discression of my Executors hereafter named, without pomp.  
Secondly: that my Debts may be all paid when due, and as for my Temporal Estate it hath pleased God to bestow upon me, I give as follows, Viz. Impris. I give and bequeath to my son Josiah Leak part of the land whereon I now live, viz. the South Side from the road beginning at Groom's line and thence up the road to the Creek and up the Creek to Coles' Spring branch, thence up the sd. branch to the line, to him and his heirs forever. And the said Josiah Leak is to pay to Samuel Leak five and twenty Pounds Currt. Money.
Item. I give and bequeath to my two sons John Leak and William Leak the remainder of the aforesaid land on the North Side of the aforesaid road that is to say any one of them is to have the whole Paying the other for his part of it. and he that will give to the other the most for his part of it, shall take the whole to him and his heirs forever.
Item. I give and bequeath to my two sons Mask Leak and Elisha Leak my Piece of Land in Albemarle which I bought of Paul Michaux to be equally divided between them in quantity and quality to them and their heirs forever.
Item. I give and bequeath to my three daughters, Mary Christian, Christian Johnston and Judith Leak twenty Pounds apiece after their Mother's decease.
Item. I lend to my Daughter Elizabeth Coleman my negro girl Agge to wait on her and to work for her, her life​time and after her decease the said Agge and her increase if she has any shall be Equally divided amongst her children.
Item. I lend to my loving wife and desire that she may have the use of all my Estate induring her lifetime and widow​hood, both land negroes, cattle, etc., and after her decease or marriage then these legacies to be paid, and the remainder of my Estate to be equally divided amongst all my children. I also desire that those of my children which have not been help​ed towards housekeeping with Bed, Pot, and Stock, etc. as the others, may be helped with such necessaries equally to what the others have been. I also appoint my loving wife Judith Leak and my son Josiah Leak Executors of this my last will and Testament, desiring my estate may not be appraised nor give security.
Whereunto I set my hand and seal this 31st day of Octo​ber Anno Dom. 1757.  Published in Presence of us. 
John Humber
Charles Christian Junr
Walter Leak {seal}
Elizabeth Humber
At a court held for Goochland County May 16th, 1758.
This writing was proved by the Oaths of John Humber and Charles Christian Junr. to be the Last Will and Testament of Walter Leak deed, which was admitted to record.
Teste, Va. Wood CI. 
Cur.
1758.  Died. 

239
Judith MASK
14 Apr. 1698.  Born, probably in New Kent County, Virginia.

10 July 1698.  Baptized in St. Peter’s Parish, probably New Kent County, Virginia.
 
After 16 May 1758.   Died, probably in Goochland County, Virginia.
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Hans Peter STÄFFEN/STEFFEN/STEPHAN (“Peter STEPHENS”)

3 Mar. 1687.  Born in Steinsfurt, Kraichgau region, Germany.
9 Mar. 1687.  Baptized at Steinsfurt.
Before 1714.  Married Maria Christina ???.
1714.  Birth of son Ludwig STEPHAN.
About 1716.  Birth of daughter Maria Christina STEPHAN.
1718 - 1720.  Birth of son Lorenz STEPHAN.
About 1722.  Birth of daughter Maria Magdalena STEPHAN.
1724.  Birth of daughter Margaretha STEPHAN.
1728 - 1730.  Birth of son Peter STEPHAN.
1730.  Deacon at Skippack Reformed Church in what is now Montgomery County, Pennsylvania. 
17 May and 5 Nov. 1730.  As deacon at Skippack Reformed Church, co-signed two letters to Reformed pastors in New York about a local church problem.
 

1732.  Peter and family moved to the Shenandoah Valley of Virginia.  According to Samuel Kercheval (emphasis added),
In the year 1732, Joist Hite, with his family, and his sons-in-law, viz:  George Bowman, Jacob Chrisman and Paul Froman, with their families; Robert McKay, Robert Green, William Duff, Peter Stephens, and several others, amounting in the whole to sixteen families, removed from Pennsylvania, cutting their road from York, and crossing the Cohongoruton about two miles above Harper's Ferry.

8 Apr. 1734.  Birth of son John Heinrich STEPHAN.  He was baptized by Rev. John Casper Stoever on 16 May 1735 in Opequon, Virginia.  His sponsor was Heinrich Krause.
  He was called Henry.
According to T. K. Cartmell (emphasis added),

Peter Stephens, the emigrant, located on a tract of land South of the Opeckon, for which he obtained an order of the Colonial Council, to have it surveyed and laid off for himself and several families. This was subsequent to the order granted Hite for his large grants. Stephens failed to comply with the conditions of his order; and allowed it to lapse. Hite's order covered all unsurveyed and ungranted land in that vicinity.  When his survey and report was returned, he conveyed and caused to be made a transfer of a large tract to Peter Stephens, who for some reason failed to have it recorded. He was never disturbed in his title as will be seen elsewhere. 

3 Oct. 1734.  Peter received a patent from Virginia for 674 acres on the North Branch of Crooked Run.

2 May 1736.  Peter Stephan and wife Maria Christina were the sponsors at the baptism of Maria Christina, a daughter Paul Fromman of Opequon, Virginia.
   

15 May 1736.  Peter was appointed Constable of Orange County, Virginia.  On 20 July 1736, he was replaced by his son Lewis before the standard one year appointment was up, which is indicative of some sort of problem.  (See Orange County, Virginia, Court Book 1, pp. 74, 93, 198.) 

16 November 1741.  Peter and Lewis Stephens witnessed the statement concerning the property brought by Maria Magdalena Nuschanger nee Stephens when she married Jost Hite.
  Maria Magdalena was Peter’s sister.
31 October 1743.  Took oath of naturalization at Williamsburg.  He was identified as a “’German Protestant from Hidelburgh on the River Mayne [sic] in the Empire of Germany…having lived for seven years or more in that part of Orange County designed to be called Frederick….’”
 
4 Dec 1744.  Peter sold 225 acres to son Lewis for 50 pounds (see Frederick County Deed Book 1, p. 165). 

1 April 1745.  Peter sold 225 acres to son Lawrence for 100 pounds (see Frederick County Deed Book 1, p. 203). 

13 Mar. 1750 (survey date; no warrant).  Mr. Lewis Stephens had 437 acres surveyed on drains of Opeckon and Crooked Run adjoining his own lines, Mary Reed, Capt Hite, Peter Stephens.  The chain carriers were Phillip Poker and Stephen Hossipell.  The surveyor was John Baylis. 

4 Sept. 1750 - 8 Mar. 1750/51(warrant and survey dates).  Lawrance Stephens had 400 acres surveyed adjoining Lewis Stephens, Jacob Nisewanger and the old Waggon Road, Jacob Crisman, Mcdowell. The chain carriers were Peter Stephens and Laurance Snapp. The surveyor was Jno. Baylis.
  The Peter Stephens mentioned here might be the son of Lewis Stephens.

2 Jan. 1750/51 - 4 May 1752 (warrant and survey dates).  Lawrence Stephens, assignee of Capt Thomas Ashby, Junr., had 400 acres surveyed on head of Mcdowell's Marsh adjoining Thomas Ashby's land, Wm Hammett, Peter Stephens, Jacob Nicewanger.  The chain carriers were Peter Stephens and Jacob Nicewanger.  The surveyor was John Baylis. 

15 Feb. 1752 - 4 May 1752 (warrant and survey dates).  Mary Nicewanger and Christian Nicewanger, assignees of Jacob Nicewanger, had 323 acres surveyed on a branch of Crooked Run adjoining Jacob’s land, Laurence Stephens, Peter Stephens, Thos. Ashby.  The chain carriers were Peter Stephens and Thos. Ashby Junr.  The surveyor was John Baylis.

29 Sept. 1753. Deed drawn up for Mary and Christian Nicewanger. 

31 May 1756.  Fees paid in full by widow Nicewanger. 

11 May 1752 (survey date; no warrant).  Gabriel Mirfitt of Prince William Co., assignee of William Hammet, had 519 acres surveyed on Long Meadow of Buffeloe Marsh adjoining Thomas Ashby Junr., Peter Stephens.  The chain carriers were Jno. Snapp Junr. and John Young.  The surveyor was John Baylis. 

13 Nov. 1752.  Peter was granted 572 acres by Lord Fairfax (see Northern Neck Grant H, p. 207).

4 June 1753.  Peter sold 198 acres to son Peter Jr. for 20 pounds (see Frederick County Deed Book 3, p. 54). 

17 Jan. 1754.  Peter sold 144 acres of his 572-acre grant to John Hite for 8 pounds. 

19 Dec. 1754.  Peter bought back the 198 acres from son Peter Jr. for 30 pounds. 

2 May 1755.  Peter resold the 198 acres plus the 225 acres sold to Lewis in 1744 to son Lewis for 300 pounds. 

Undated survey (no warrant).  Peter Stephens Senr. had 572 acres surveyed adjoining his own land, Jacob Nicewanger, Gabriel Jones, Thos. Ashby Junr., the original patent of Jost Hite, Widow Reed, Lewis Stephens.  The chain carriers were John Snapp and John Young. The surveyor was John Baylis.

28 April 1757.  Peter wrote his will.  The will mentioned the following: 

· Son Lewis
· Wife Maria Christina
· Son Lawrence
· Son Peter Jr.
· Son Henry
· Daughters Maria Christina and her younger sister Margaret
6 December 1757.  last will and testament proved. 
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Maria Christina ??? 

1757.  Still living.
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Peter RITTENHOUSE
About 1699.   Peter was born. 

Daughter Mary was born. 

Daughter Barbara was born.  She first married Charles William Rubincam.  In about 1752, she second married James Stern.  She had children with both husbands. 

Daughter Susannah was born.  She married Justus William Rubincam on 2 Feb. 1741/42.

Son Gerhard was born.  He married Mary Bartleson. 

Daughter Margaret was born.  She married Conrad Weidner. 

Son Jacob was born.  He married Susannah Bartleson.

7 Feb. 1742/43.  Father’s will was signed.  Soon thereafter (within the month) his father died.  The will gave the “homestead plantation in Cresheim [Pennsylvania] together with the grist mill and the lands appertaining thereunto,” to son Peter and Peter’s wife Ann.
  Calvin Kephart says that the will gave Peter and Ann a life estate only and then the property went to their children
 (i.e., the property was theirs to use, but upon their deaths it became the property of their children; in theory, they could sell the property, but the buyer’s tenure would only last until they died). 
29 Sep. 1748.  Peter made his will.  His heirs were his wife Anna, and his children, Mary, Barbara, Susanna Garrat, Margaret, and Jacob.  His executors were to be his wife Anna, “’nephew’” (actually cousin) Nicholas Rettenhousen (Rittenhouse), and his son-in-law Justice Rebacam (Rubicam).  The witnesses to the will were Thomas Yorke, John Hammer, and Mathias Barnstein. 
 
Between 29 Sep. and 15 Oct. 1748.  Peter died. 
15 Oct. 1748.  last will and testament proved. 
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Anna ???
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William HOGE

William Hoge is said to be from Musselburgh, Midlothian, Scotland, and a son of Sir James Hoge, who was a son of George Hoge, who in turn was a son of Sir John Hoge.
   No evidence of this, however, has been found. 
  
The only documented baptisms of William Hoge (and variants) in the old records of the combined parish of Inveresk and Musselburgh in Midlothian were 

· William Hog, son of John Hog and wife Margaret Thomson, baptized on 7 Nov. 1652
· William Hog, son of David Hog and wife Bessie Burton, baptized on 6 June 1665 
For what it is worth, onomastic evidence suggests that the ancestor of Eunice might be the first couple, John Hog and wife Margaret Thomson.  William’s third son was named after himself, indicating that a “traditional” Scots naming pattern was followed.  If a “traditional” pattern was indeed followed, then William’s first son would be named after William’s father.  His first son was named John.  Given the potential for unrecorded children who died young and for the birth order of his children presented below to be incorrect, using his children’s names to identify that of his mother would be nothing more than a wild guess. 
That William was identified as a tailor in a 1698 East New Jersey deed and a 1710 Chester County, Pennsylvania, deed, 
 makes it extremely unlikely that he was the son of a Scots gentleman.

1660.  William was born in Scotland (traditional date). 

1682.  William Hoge of Musselboro, Scotland, came to America on the ship Caledonia. 
 
Between 1682 and 1735.  William Hoge went to Perth Amboy.  From there he went to Delaware.  From Delaware he went to the Cumberland Valley in Pennsylvania. 
  
1685-1688.  Married Barbara Hume. (based on arrival in America of her maternal uncle, Dr. John Johnstone, and possible birth of first known child).
1688.  Daughter Margaret Hoge was born.  She married Dr. Robert White in Delaware.  She died in Virginia in 1764. 

Between 1688 and 1706.  Daughter Barbara was born (based on births of siblings).  She married Neil Thompson (born circa 1700), probably in Chester County, Pennsylvania, before 17 April 1729. 

7 Dec. 1698.  Deed from John Reid of Hortencie to William Hog of Monmouth County, tailor, for a lot in Monmouth County between Peter Sommans’s lot No. 9 and the rich swamp.  This land was originally patented on 7 Apr. 1695.
  
1699.
  Son John Hoge was born.  He married Gwentholyn Bowen Davis. 

1700.  William Hoge was on a grand jury in Shrowsberry, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

About 1700.  Son William Hoge was born he married Ann (surname unknown). 

Between 1700 and 1706.  Son Alexander Hoge was born (based on births of siblings William and James).
1706.  Son James Hoge was born.  He died 2 June 1795.  He first married Agnes Crawford.  He second married Nancy Griffith. 

30 Mar. 1706 last.  William Hoge was a witness to the sale of land by Thomas Gordon of Perth Amboy, NJ, to John Mooleson of Piscataway, NJ.

1 Nov. 1708.  William Hoge was one of the witnesses of the last will and testament of Melven James of Freehold, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

After 1706.  Son George Hoge was born (based on birth of brother James).
After 1706.  Daughter “Nancy” was born (based on birth of brother James).  She married Robert Wilson.  She died near Opequon church and was buried there. 
  Her name is also identified as Joroter,
 Garrala, Garnita, and Geonita.
  Her apparent namesake granddaughters were called Geonita/Jenetta.  
10 Nov. 1710.  William Hoge, tailor, of Monmouth County, New Jersey, purchased 1,000 acres via lease and release from John Budd, brewer, and Sarah Morrey, widow, both of Philadelphia, for a 5 shillings lease.  The land consisted of two 500-acre tracts in Chester County, Pennsylvania, on the western side of Big Elk Creek in East Nottingham Township Part of this land appears to have been in Cecil County, Maryland.  The price of the release part of the lease and release was £127.10.  In addition to the Big Elk, the land was bounded by that of James Johnston, Robert Ashton, Andrew Jobs.  The witnesses were Daniel Radly, James Morris, Andrew Slim.  This deed was recorded on 13 Aug. 1725 (See Chester County Deed Book D, p. 312.)
 
1710 or 1715.  William Hoge of Freehold, a Scottish Covenanter (a participant in a Scottish Presbyterian religious squabble
), sold land in Monmouth County, New Jersey, to Peter Watson.  The 1710 citation says that, on 14 Aug., Peter Watson purchased 

… the plantation and land where William Hoge then lived, together with stock, crops, goods and chattels, paying therefor £250.  This land was one of the Wickatunk lots, and was formerly John Reid’s.”
  
1722.  Tax assessments, East Nottingham Township, Chester County, Pennsylvania:

· John Hogg:  0 pounds 6 shillings 3 pence
· William Hogg:  0 pounds 15 shillings 0 pence
18 Apr. 1729.  William Hoge's last will and testament (emphasis added):
In the name of God Amen. This eighteenth day of April in the year of Our Lord one thousand seven hundred and twenty nine. I, William Hoge of nottingham in ye County of Chester and Provence of Pennsylvania lands, a farmer, being very sick and weak in body, but of perfect mind and memory, Thanks be given unto God therefore, calling unto mind ye mortality of my body and knowing yt it is appointed for all men once to dy, do make and ordian this my Last Will and Testament, yt is to say principally and first of all I give and recommend it to ye earth be buried in a Christian like and decent manner, at the descretion of my Executors. Nothing doubting but at ye general Resurrection I shall receive ye same again by ye mighty power of God and as touching such worldly (goods) wherewith it has pleased God to bless me in this life, devise and dispose of ye same in ye following maner form

--Imprimus my will is yt all my just debts and funeral charges be paid as soon as conveniently they can after my decease

--Secondly my will is yt Barbara my well beloved wife shal have ye benefit of ye plantation whereon I now live during her life

--Thirdly my will is yt my son John Hoge shall fully be possessed of yt tract of land yt I made over to him by Deed of Gift

--Fourthly is yt my son William Hoge shall have yt 100 a. of land whereon he now lives which is secured to him by a bill of sale

--Fiftly is yt my will is yt my son-in-law Noah Thomson shall have 100 a. of land whereon he lives during his life and at his decease to be his wife and her heirs forever

--Sixly that my son in law Robert White shal have 5 shillings

--Sevently my will is yt my sons Allexander, James and George shall have ye remainder of my land to be equally divided amongst them by men of their own choosing yt there is no difference between them nor go to law one with another about it

--Eightly my will is yt my daughter Joroter Hoge will have 50 pounds in money or value thereof leveyed out of ye stock and what debts is due to me and if that will not be so yt ye remainder be raised of ye plantation

--Ninthly and lastly. I likewise constitute make and ordain George Galassbey of newcastle County and Barbara my well beloved wife Executor and Executrix of this my last will and testament. And I do hereby utterly disallow revoke and disanull all other forms testaments wills and legacies bequests executors by me in any way before this time named willed and bequeathed, Ratifying and confirming this and no other to be my last will and testament, In witness whereof I have here-unto set my hand and seal ye day and year above written;





William Hoge {seal}
Signed sealed published pronounced and declared by ye William Hoge to be his last Will and Testament in ye presence of us subscribers, We: John Ruddoll, Enoch Job, William Rogers 

23 June 1733.  Robert Willson purchased 122 acres adjoining William Hogge in Cecil County, Maryland, from Samuel Robinette of Chester County, Pennsylvania, farmer, for £52.  The land was already in Willson’s possession at the time of the purchase.  Witnesses were Alex Lang, Rich’d Dobson, and Jno. Thomas (see Cecil County, Maryland, Liber P, Folio 309).

About 1735. William Hoge moved his family to Frederick County, Virginia. 
 

Between 1745-1749.  William married second Mary (surname unknown) after the death of his first wife, Barbara. 

1749.  William died in Frederick County, Virginia. 
  He is reportedly interred in Burying Ground #2 of the Opequon Presbyterian Church Cemetery, although there is no marker.  Interments are from 1745-1904, and the burying ground is, of the church’s five, the “Largest and most prominent; Northeast of the sanctuary; contained within the black iron fence.”

15 Nov. 1749.  Son George appointed the administrator of his estate. 

15 Nov. 1750.  Second wife, Mary, released dower for 40 shillings annually.

The following is a summary of the life of William Hoge written by T. K. Cartmell

William Hogue (Hoge) was of the Hite party, and settled on a branch of the Opecquon and called it Hogue Run.  He erected his cabin at the fountain head, and continued to live there until his death.  He claimed title through a grant independent of Hite; and controlled a large tract, and sold parcels therefrom without question as to his title.  The homestead was due West from the Opeckon Memorial Church, and in full view.  It changed hands several times after the emigrant's death-Stephen Pritchard and family one of the first owners-the home now of Chas. H. Grim family.  The brick mansion now on the old site, was built about 1850 by the Pritchard family.  Stephen Pritchard's wife was Mary Cartmell.  William Hoge settled on his grant about 1735.  They were living in Chester County, Penna., in 1734.  His wife was Barbara Hume. They had five sons:  John, William, Alexander, James and George.  John remained in Pennsylvania, and died at Hogestown 9 miles West of Harrisburg.  The other sons and daughters accompanied the father to his Virginia home.  William J. afterwards married a quakeress, and removed to what is now Loudoun County, and left many descendants.   James settled near Middletown.  Alexander became a lawyer; lived near Winchester; was a member of the first Congress of the U. S., and also of the Virginia Convention that adopted the first Constitution of the U. S.  James the fourth son, was the father of the first Rev. Moses Hoge, who was direct ancestor of several preachers of that name-found afterwards in many parts of the country-Notably Rev. Moses D. Hoge, D.D., of Richmond, Va.  Rev. John Hoge, who has been mentioned as the first regular pastor of Opecquon Church, was the son of John.  George the fifth son, was a member of the first courts of Frederick County; subsequently he changed his residence to N. Carolina.  One of the daughters, Margaret, married Dr. Robert White a surgeon in the British Navy.  A grandson of Solomon Hoge married Mary Glass, granddaughter of Samuel Glass the emigrant.  Through this line, the Hoge family of Berkeley County, Va., descends. No attempt will be made to follow the line fully.  The other daughters of the emigrant Wm. Hoge, intermarried in prominent families. (Want of space forbids fuller mention of this family.)  

William the emigrant, was a Presbyterian, and donated the land for the first "meeting-house" at Opeckon, Feb. 19, 1745. The Opecquon Memorial Church stands on the same site. 

The following, briefer summary is found in Frederick Adams Virkus’s Compendium of American Genealogy, Vol. VI:  

Hoge, William (1660-1750), from Scotland ca. 1682, settled at Perth Amboy, N.J.; founder of Washington Co., Pa; settled finally at Opequon, VA., m Barbara Hume (1670-1745).
 

Finally, Hopewell Friends History, 1734-1934, Frederick County, Virginia, says the following concerning William:


William Hogg, 411 acres.  This land lies just southwest of the village of Kernstown and about four miles from Winchester.  William Hogg, Hoge, or Hogue, as the name was variously spelled, was living in Chester County, Pa., where he was taxed in East Nottingham Township from 1718 to 1730, after which year he removed to Virginia.  His first wife was Barbara Hume, who was the mother of all his children.


William Hoge died before August 8, 1749.  On that day his will was filed and recorded in the Frederick County clerk’s office, but was not probated.  His widow, Mary Hoge, declined accepting the provisions thereof, and claimed her dower.  The land came into the possession of the Rev. John Hoge, the heir-at-law, he being the eldest son of his father John, who in turn was the eldest son of William.  On this land stands the old Opequon Presbyterian Church, organized by the Rev. James Anderson in 1737, and which, except for one or two short periods, has served that denomination to this day.  In 1745 William Hoge conveyed to the trustees of this church two acres for a burying ground, but did not as frequently stated, donate the church lot, which was purchased in 1795 by the trustees from Adam Kern and Christina, his wife, who at the time owned most of this old patent.

On the site of the original house of William Hoge stands the large mansion house, now the home of Mrs. Hardy Grim, and was built in about 1850 by Stephen Pritchard, whose family owned the tract for many years.  In the graveyard west of this house are buried many of the Hoges and Prichards.


William and Barbara Hoge left many descendants, among whom may be found ministers, college presidents, statesmen, and teachers, many of whom became nationally known.  The minute books of Hopewell Monthly Meeting and the Frederick County records make frequent reference to his sons John, William Jr., Alexander, James, and George.
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Barbara HUME

1670.  Born (traditional birth year).
 
1745.  Died in Frederick County, Virginia.
  She is reportedly interred in Burying Ground #2 of the Opequon Presbyterian Church Cemetery, although there is no marker.  Interments are from 1745-1904, and the burying ground is, of the church’s five, the “Largest and most prominent; Northeast of the sanctuary; contained within the black iron fence.”

Some claim that her father was Sir James Hume, a Scottish knight.  His father was said to be both a knight and a baron 
   No evidence of this has been found, however. 
  
Between 1650 and 1675, only two baptisms of Barbara Hume/Home were included in the currently extant Old Parish Registers of Scotland: 

· Barbara Home, the daughter of William Home and Catharine Deans, was baptized in the parish of Edinburgh in the city of Edinburgh, County of Midlothian on 15 Dec. 1667.
· Barbara Hume, the daughter of Johne Hume and wife Jonet Falconer, was baptized in Haddington in East Lothian on 17 July 1670. 
For what it is worth, onomastic evidence supports the possibility that the ancestors of Eunice might be the second couple identified above.  It is not too much of a stretch for Barbara’s mother to be named Jonet and a daughter named after her to be Jenette.

Barbara is said to be a niece of Dr. John Johns(t)on(e) (his sister’s daughter). 
  

Between 1650 and 1670, only two marriages are included in the currently extant Old Parish Registers of Scotland between a female Johnson (with spelling variations) and a male Hume/Home: 

· Jeane Johnsone and Mark Home married on 2 July 1656 in the parish of Stichill and Hume in the County of Roxburgh. 
· Helen Johnstoune and James Home married on 4 May 1665 in the parish of Duddingston in the city of Edinburgh, County of Midlothian.

Onomastic evidence supports the possibility that the ancestors of Eunice might be the first couple identified above.  It is no stretch for Barbara’s mother to be named Jeane and a daughter named after her to be Jenette.  Of course, Barbara’s mother might have been Dr. Johnson’s step-sister or half-sister, or might have been a widow when she married Barbara’s father, so her surname at her marriage to Barbara’s father might not have been Johnson.  That is, if Barbara’s uncle was indeed Dr. Johnston.
According to New Aberdeen or the Scottish Settlement of Monmouth County, New Jersey, John Johnston was an apothecary from Edinburgh, born in 1661.  He followed his brother James to America.  He left Scotland from Leith on 5 Sep. 1685 aboard the Henry & Francis.  George Scot, Laird of Pitlochie, his wife and children save one daughter, Eupham, as well as Eupham’s uncle and aunt, William and Eupham Rigg, all died, leaving Eupham an heiress.  All were on the ship with Johnstone.  Eupham and John Johnstone were married on 18 April 1686.  Land was left to Eupham in Monmouth County near New Aberdeen.  Dr. Johnstone ended up with 30,511 acres.  Miss Hume, his sister’s daughter, was on the voyage with him.  Dr. Johnstone spent considerable time in New York City.  He died on 19 Sep. 1732.

According to History of the Sufferings of the Church of Scotland from the Restoration to the Revolution, Dr. Johnson was already married to a daughter of George Scot when the crossing to New Jersey was made.

According to Volume 4 of American Ancestry, John Johnstone was born in Scotland and died at Perth Amboy, New Jersey, on 7 September 1732.  He left Scotland aboard the Henry and Francis from Leith in December 1685.  On 18 April 1686, he married Eupheme Scot, heir to the American property rights of George Scot, Laird of Pitlochie, who, along with his wife, died while on the Henry and Francis (they were all fellow passengers with Johnstone).  After arriving in America, he practiced medicine, was a member of the New Jersey Provincial Assembly, 1709-1722 (was speaker for 10 years), and was a member of the New York Governor’s Council, 1720-1722.

Evidently, James Johnstone, Dr. Johnston’s older brother,
 “was denounced May, 1684, for aiding in a rebellion and he escaped to this country [America].”
 
Edwin Salter says that their father is said to be John Johnstone of Ochiltree, Scotland.
  The extant baptism records for Ochiltree, 1640-1680, do not unambiguously show the births of James or John, although they do indicate that at least one John Johnestoun/Johnstown was fathering children in the parish during that time.
  The Ochiltree connection needs further investigation.

Alternatively, Edith Herbert Mather says that the father of the two Johnston brothers, James and John, was Rev. William Johnstone of Laverocklaw, Berwickshire.  Their mother was his wife, Isabel Maitland.
  This connection also needs further investigation.  
John Johnstone was, among other things, the 32nd mayor of New York City who served from 1714-1719.  He was characterized as “… a colonial shipping merchant and colonial politician….”
  

Several New Jersey deeds mention John Johnston of New York City, including one dated 22 Feb. 1712/1713 that mentions land “Dr. John Johnston of NY City, Esqr. … form. of James Johnston’s brother to the afsd Dr. Johnston.” (see Book “Little K,” East New Jersey Land Records, p. 95).  This deed indicates that the John Johnson of New York City was indeed Barbara’s uncle.  He was in New York City as early as 4 Aug. 1710 (see Book “Little K,” East New Jersey Land Records, p. 103), and as late as 16 Sep. 1718 (see Book A-2, East New Jersey Land Records, p. 310).  A deed in Book B-2, East New Jersey Land Records, settles the matter concerning whether Dr. John Johnstone served as New York City mayor.  On 24 Feb. 1715, “John Johnston, Doctor of Medicine & present Mayor of New York in America,” was mentioned in an East New Jersey deed (see Book B-2, East New Jersey Land Records, p. 34.).

In 1719-1720, Dr. Johnstone was on the commission that settled the New York-New Jersey boundary. 

In 1720, Dr. Johnstone 

… was a member of Governor Burnett’s Council for that province [New York].  The governor, however, in 1722, proposed his removal from that post, partly on account of his being constantly with his family in New Jersey.
According to The Scottish Covenanter Genealogical Index (1630-1712), John Johnson was a Scots Covenanter born in Edinburgh in about 1655 and also a druggist in Edinburgh.

Traditionally, Barbara is said to have come to America in 1682 with her parents on the ship Caledonia at the same time as William Hoge.  They were said to be from Paisley, Scotland. 
  Barbara’s parents died during the voyage and William Hoge took Barbara under his wing.  At the end of the voyage, he turned Barbara over to her uncle, Dr. Johnson, in New York. 

Since Dr. Johnson did not arrive in America until 1685, it would not have been possible for William Hoge to turn her over to her uncle in 1682.  Furthermore, it is likely that the “Miss Hume” who accompanied Dr. Johnson was Barbara. 

The stories of Dr. John Johnson and Barbara Hume are eerily similar.  In fact, they are too similar.  Over time, they might have become conflated.

It might be noted that George Scot had a title, claim to the services of about 100 prisoners on the ship, a claim on 500 acres of land in New Jersey, and the right to buy 1,000 more, when he left Scotland, and not much else.  While he was Laird of Pitlochie, he had sold the estates that went with the title to a half-brother.  Also, Eupheme Scot had a male sibling, James, who survived the trip to America.
 
The forgoing indicates that Dr. John Johnstone had considerable standing in both New York and New Jersey society.  Why would he let his niece marry a common tailor?  One possibility is that Barbara, the wife of William, was not his niece, but shared part or all of her name with that niece.  To extend this even further, perhaps Barbara, the wife of William, also had an Uncle John who came to America before her and lived in New York.  This needs further investigation.
� Unless otherwise stated, the source of information for John McMahan used here was “James McMahan (1714-1799) Of Early Rowan County, N.C. And Some of His Descendants,” an essay from an unknown source included in an undated packet of McMahan family materials sent by Floreen Levasseur (now deceased), Oxford, MA, to Ruth Canote (now deceased), Kansas City, MO.


� “Our McMahans Were From Ayrshire,” by Idros Roberts (now deceased), 1982, included in an undated packet of McMahan family materials sent by Floreen Levasseur (now deceased), Oxford, MA, to Ruth Canote (now deceased), Kansas City, MO.


� Sir James Hamilton, The Hamilton Manuscripts, Archer & Sons, Belfast, nd, pp. 110, 111.


� “Our McMahans Were From Ayrshire,” by Idros Roberts (now deceased), 1982, included in an undated packet of McMahan family materials sent by Floreen Levasseur (now deceased), Oxford, MA, to Ruth Canote (now deceased), Kansas City, MO.
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� “An Alphabetical Listing of the Assessed Inhabitants of York County, Pennsylvania, for the Year 1762,” Book II, Special Publication Number 6, The South Central Pennsylvania Genealogical Society, York, PA, Jan. 1979, p. 10.


� Hively, Adams County Deed Books, Vol. 1, p. 128, www.paland.us/Adams%20Co%20Volume%201%20General%20Index.htm.


� Barbara Rushing, “Dean McMakin's book on McMahan/McMechen, McMahan in PerryCo., AL; DE>NC>SC>KY>TN, etc. 1678 -- 1900,” archiver.rootsweb.ancestry.com/th/read/McMAHON/2007-05/1179630860.  The information appears on page 3 of Dean McMakin’s book, according to Barbara.
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� Deed index, Grantors, 1749-1912, York County, PA, p. 89 [digitized originals online at www.yorkcountyarchives.org].


� York County, PA, Deeds, v. 2I, pp. 549-551 [LDS Microfilm 22108].
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� Unless otherwise specified, all information is from Dave Boatman, “Second Generation” and “Third Generation,” Thomas Fambrough of Virginia, 1996.  Copies of pages from this book were shared by Dave Boatman in February 2014.


� E-mail from Dave Boatman, Feb. 2014.


� The following is information from Accomack County records and appears to be about Thomas Fambrough the elder.  It is possible that the Thomas Farnbery mentioned below is a different individual and not Thomas the elder.


Stratton Nottingham, Accomack Tithables, 1663-1695, Heritage Books, Westminster, MD, 2009:


p. 42:  1687 - Tho. Farnbery, 1 Tithe


p. 46:  1689 - Tho. Farmbrugh, 1 Tithe


p. 48:  1690 - Tho. Farmbrow, 2 Tithes


p. 51:  1691 - Tho. Farmbrow, 1 Tithe


p. 53:  1692 - Tho. Farmbarrow, 2 Tithes


p. 56:  1693 - Tho. Farmbrow, 2 Tithes


JoAnn Riley McKey, Accomack County, Virginia, Court Order Abstracts, 1682-1690, Vol. 7, Heritage Books, Westminster, MD, 1988:


p. 322:  Tho. Farmbrow, 2 Tithes (1690 Tithables)


p. 325:  The inventory of the estate of John Eaton (deceased) taken 15 February 1690/91, included clothes, tools and playing cards in the hands of Tho. Farmburgh; horses, saddles, cloth, an unfinished chest, gun and corn were in the custody of Mr. Wise.  Mr. Jos. Robinson, Jno. Stanton, Robt. Edge, and Mr. Begaly owed tobacco and clothing to the estate.  Signed by Thomas (swirling loop) Farmbrough. (p. 193a, Accomack County Court - 17 Feb. 1690/91)


p. 340:  Tho. Farmbrow, 1 Tithe (1691 Tithables)


p. 354:  Tho. Farmburrow, 2 Tithes (1692 Tithables)


JoAnn Riley McKey, Accomack County, Virginia, Court Order Abstracts, 1690-1697, Vol. 8, Heritage Books, Westminster, MD, 1999:


p. xxiv:  Trading with another person's servant was outlawed in the hopes of preventing servants from bartering away their master's goods.  The wife of Thomas Farmberry was accused of dealing with Joseph Robinson's servant.


p. 10:  Mr. Joseph Robinson sued Thomas Farmberry, declaring that Farmberry's wife was dealing with Robinson's servant.  When Farmberry's attorney pleaded that Robinson had not named the wife in the action, the suit was dismissed. (p. 9a, Accomack County Court - 20 Nov. 1690)


p. 11:  Thomas Farmbrough petitioned that John Eaton (deceased) had agreed to "live with [Farmbrough] in partnership to work together in sawing work."  Farmbrough requested administration of the small estate that Eaton left.  Farmbrough had petitioned because "some indisposed persons privately deluding ye deceased in his lifetime had got into their custody some goods that might be embezzled."  According to law, administration could not be granted to anyone but a widow or child until nine months had expired, but to preserve the estate, the court authorized Farmbrough to take into his custody the whole estate, wherever he could find it, and give an inventory to the next court. (p. 11, Accomack County Court - 16 Dec. 1690)


p. 17:  At the last court Thomas Farmbrough, who had been in partnership with John Eaton (deceased), was ordered to take account of Eaton's estate.  Farmbrough now presented an account of what he could find and asked to be discharged from any further trouble.  Ordered that the sheriff take Eaton's estate into his custody and sell it at auction. (p. 16, Accomack County Court - 17 Feb. 1690/91)


p. 32:  It appeared to the court that the estate of John Eaton (deceased) owed Thomas Farmburrow 494 lbs tobacco.  Ordered that the debt and court charges be paid by Lt. Col. Daniel Jenifer (the sheriff), who had Eaton's estate in his custody. (p. 28, Accomack County Court - 18 Mar. 1690/91)


p. 108:  Mr. Tho. Farmburrow was summoned and sworn in as a grand juror. (p. 98, Accomack County Court - 21 Mar. 1692/93)


p. 110:  In the suit of James Walker (administrator of the estate of Henry Williams, deceased) against Thomas Farmberrow [sic], it appeared that Farmburrow owed the estate 60 feet of planks.  Ordered that he pay the debt to Walker along with the costs of the suit. (p. 100, Accomack County Court - 22 Mar. 1692/93)


p. 153:  At the last court Capt. George Parker was granted an order of attachment against the estate of Mr. Joseph Robinson for 100 pounds sterling.  The sheriff served the attachment on household goods contained in an inventory and 15 head of cattle, 3 horses and a bill of 1800 pounds of tobacco due from Robert Shephard.  Parker moved for judgment and produced a bond (dated 8 Dec. 1691) which was proved by Thomas Farmbrow, one of the witnesses and by "comparison of hands."  Parker swore he had never received payment, so execution was to proceed for satisfaction of the debt and court costs. (p. 137a, Accomack County Court - 21 Nov. 1694)


p. 163:  Mr. Thomas Farmbury was on the jury that heard the case of Elizabeth Morris vs. John Bloxum Jr. (pp. 146a, 147, Accomack County Court - 19 Mar. 1694/95)


p. 168:  John Lawes petitioned to be discharged from the office of surveyor of the highways; he nominated Thomas Farmburrow to take his place, and the court approved. (p.152a, Accomack County Court - 18 Jun. 1695) 


p. 195:  Tho. Farmbury was on the jury that heard the case of Thomas Taylor (cooper) vs. William Pritchard (pp. 175a, 176, Accomack County Court -18 Dec. 1695)
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